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:

| v. First American Home Buyers Protection Company et al Dog.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE: FIRST AMERICAN HOME Lead Case No. 13-cv-01585-BAS(J
BUYERS PROTECTION
CORPORATION CLASS ACTION ORDER:

LITIGATION

(1) DENYING PLAINTIFES’
MOTION FOR CLASS
%ELF)QTIFICATION (ECF NO.

(2) DENYING MOTION FOR
SANCTIONS (ECF NO. 132)

(3) DENYING EX PARTE
MOTIONS RE:
SUPPLEMENTAL
AUTHORITY (ECF NOS.
139, 145, 146)

Plaintiffs Nancy Carrera, Anna HersheEmily Diaz, Brent Morrison, ar
Karene Jullien (collectively, “Plaintiffsfjled a Consolidate@lass Action Complair
against defendant First American HomayBrs Protection Company (“Defendant’
“First American”) on October 9, 2014 allegi: (1) tortious breach of the impli
covenant of good faith andifadealing; (2) violation of California Civil Code
1710(1) (intentional misrepresentation); (@olation of California Civil Code

1710(2) (negligent misrepresentation); (lation of California Civil Code
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1710(3) (fraud by concealment); (5) violatiohCalifornia Civil Code 8§ 1710(4); ({
violation of California Busings and Professions Code 88 1728Geq (the “UCL”);
(7) false advertising; (8) breach of contraatyd (9) declaratory relief. (ECF No. ]
(“Consol. Compl.”).)

On November 24, 2014, Plaintiffs filed a motion to certify the following f
pursuant to Federal Rule ofu@liProcedure 23(b)(2) and (b)(3):

All persons who purchased or wdrgted as the named insured on a
home protection contract issued bgfendant First American Home
Buyers Protection Corporation froMarch 6, 2003 to the present.

(ECF No. 121-1 (“Mot.”) at pp2, 16, n. 8.) Plaintiffs seek certification of the c

for the following claims: (1) intentioha misrepresentation; (2) neglige

misrepresentation; (3) fraud by concealment; (4) promissory fraud; (5) violation
UCL; and (6) false advertisingld( at pp. 2-33 Defendant opposes. (ECF No. |
(“Opp.”).) The gravamen oPlaintiffs’ class claims ighat First American mag
misrepresentations in marketing home eotibn contracts, because First Ameri
routinely denies or delays legitingatlaims made under the contracts.

After the filing of Plaintiffs’ motion forclass certification, Plaintiffs filed
motion for sanctions and the parties both fieedpartemotions for leave to file
notice of supplemental authority.

The Court finds these motions sbiea for determination on the pap
submitted and without oral argumereeCiv. L.R. 7.1. For the following reaso
Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification (ECF No. 121)ENIED, the ex partg
motions regarding supplemental authofitgd by the parties (ECF Nos. 139, 1
146) areDENIED, and Plaintiffs’ motion for sanctions (ECF No. 132PENIED.

1 The breach of contract claim [ing brought solg on behalf o

Plaintiffs Carrera, Hershelorrison, and Diaz individually (ECF No. 115 at p. 49.

2 Plaintiffs do not seek certificatiaf their tortious breach of the impli
covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim.
3 Having read and consideredtmoving papers, and good cause fa

-2 - 13cv1585

)
N

15

class

ass

L

nt

of the
128

le

can

45,

pd

ling




© 00 N o 0o A~ W N P

N NN NN N N NN P P P B P P PP PR
© N o O~ W N P O © N O 0o M W N P O

l. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
First American is a nationwide providef home warranty plans. (Opp. at
8.) The plans provide for the “repair oeplacement” ofcovered systems a

appliances that malfunction during the plagriod due to “normavear and tear

p.
nd

subject to certain exclusiondd() The plans expire after one year, but can be renewed

for additional one year termsld() During the class perio&jrst American sold plar
with a variety of configurations in mote@an 40 states. (ECF No. 128-36 (“H4
Decl.”) at 1 6-8.) From March 2003 ¢tugh April 2011, First American sg
3,220,026 home warranty plans. (ECF No. 2A1Bottini Decl.”) at § 26, Exh. 25

First American markets aratlvertises its plans through four channels: (1)

estate sales; (2) renewals; (3) starting in 2007, direct to consumer (via teleph

online); and (4) portfolio management (10noore properties undeontract). (Opp.

at p. 9; Hand Decl. at 1 5; ECF No. 128{36raney Decl.”) at { 4; ECF No. 128-
(“Miles Decl.”) at 1 3.) The primary forms of maging communication inclug
“flyers, postcards, brochures, direct mail,ansocial media, and websites.” (He
Decl. at 1 9.)

First American home warranty plans danobtained (1) isonnection with th
purchase of a residential property; @parately by ordering over the phone
through First American’s website; or (3) bgnewing a prior contract. (Miles De
at § 3.) For calendar years 2004 to 20mb8Jusive, approximately 50% of Fit
American’s home warranty plans were soldhe real estate chael, 46% were so
in the renewal channel, 4% were sold ie threct-to-consumer channel, and less
1% were sold in the portfolio managemehannel. (Hand Decl. at 1 32.)

During the class period, from approxtely March 2003 to June 2011, F

American issued approximately 1,320 diffdrearsions of its contract. (Miles De

to appear, the CouRENIES theex partemotions regarding supplemental autho
The Court will disregard any new argumeahtained in the motions. To the ext
the cases are relevatite Court will locate them in its own research.
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at § 8.) The contracts varied from stadestate and year-tpear, and containe

different types of coverageld( at Exhs. C, D.)

First American’s records reflect thgi@oximately 49% of plan holders ne}
make a claim undeheir plan. [(d. at § 12.) In additiomalthough imprecise, Fir
American’s records reflect that beten March 6, 2003 and December 31, 2
approximately 4.5% of attlaims made were denigal full or in part. (d. at {11.)

A. Real Estate Sales Channel

In the real estate channel, First Ancan employs approximately 100 “a
managers” across the United States, who intevebtlocal real eate agents. (Har
Decl. at § 10.) The real estaagents, in turn, interadirectly with home buyers af
sellers, who then decide whether or noptwmchase a home warranty plan with F
American. [d. at § 10.) On occasion, home buyans sellers use a real estate a
who does not interact with a Rirdmerican area manager.ld(at § 11.) Firg

American area managers are given discratiatetermining how they want to mari}

yer
st
D12,

rea
1d
nd
irst

gent

—

ket

the plans. Ifl. at 11 12, 13.) Marketing may inde giving a live presentation at a

real estate office or trade@&w, speaking or correspondingflwa real estate agent,
distributing written marketig materials prepared by First American’'s sales
marketing department, which are avai&far the area magar to order. Ifl. at T 12.

Plaintiffs assert that First Americanéggea managers are given standard
written scripts. (Bottini Decl. at Exhs. 1 aBg As examples, Plaintiffs attach a F
American Product and Services Home Wityal raining Presentation for real est
agents geeid.) and a Quick Reference Guideeéid. at Exh. 3) to their motion.
the presentation, the agents are instrutbedand out and review First America
brochures. Ifl. at Exhs. 1 and 2.) The guide cains a “suggested script” for buys
and sellers, which contains simrilanguage to the brochuredd.(at Exh. 3.)

First American disputes the contentioattht provides its aremanagers with
“script” to follow in selling its plans to buysand sellers. (Hand Decl. at 1 13.) F

American claims the “scriptattached to Plaintiffs’ mton is part of a PowerPoi
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presentation approved by First Americasaes and marketing department in 2
for use by use by some area manageld. af 1 14.) First American further clai
this PowerPoint presentation was not upeidr to 2010 and was never widely
uniformly disseminated to its network afrea managers or available on R
American’s website. Id. at 11 14, 15.)

First American also contends thatetiQuick Reference Guide attached

010
ms
or

First

to

Plaintiffs’ motion (Bottini Decl. at Exh. 3which was generated in 2012, was only in

use in the 2012-2013 time fraprand was not widely usext disseminated during th
time. (Hand Decl. at 1 16.) First Americumther asserts that the Quick Refere
Guide was never available on First American’s websitb. af 1 16.)

First American admits that its salesdamarketing departmé creates certa
written materials, such as brochures anddjiand sends those materials to many
managers to assist in the promotion e§FEAmerican’s home warranty plans or mg
them available on First American’s websi{eland Decl. at | 17; Bottini Decl. at E>
28 (“Miles Il Depo.”) at 64:6-12see alsdottini Decl. at Exhs. 42, 43, 46.) Howe\
First American contends they do not haveuniform practice of providing the
materials and do not keep track of whicle@pc materials the area managers of
provide to the real estate agents. (HaedlIDat 1 19, 20.) First American also d
not monitor how each real estaagent uses the providedteraals, if the agent us
them at all. Id. at 77 21, 24, 27.)

In the real estate channel, home watyglans may be purchased by the:
real estate agent; (2) home seller; ori{8me buyer. (Hand Decl. at § 23; Cra
Decl. at 1 5; Miles Decl. at 1 3, 4.) @ three options, thglans are more oftg
purchased by the home seller or real esgent. (Hand Decl. at § 25.) The hg
buyer is rarely involved in the evaluai and selection of the plan, and may
receive a copy of the contract until aftdosing and taking possession of the hg
(Id. at  25.) First American’s markegj materials are aimed at both buyers
sellers. $eed. at Exh. B.)
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First American asserts that it has creaetide variety of marketing materii
over the years, which have varied otime and from region to regionld( at 18, 28
31, Exh. B.) Some of the nmaials are specifically cread at the request of ar
managers to be tailoredacspecific region.|d. at 11 18, 28.) First American attac
to its Opposition a few examples of its adistng and marketingnaterials used i
the real estate channel during the classopdhat do not reference Plaintiffs’ alleg
misrepresentations, and contain variations on the “cost comparison chart.at
Exhs. A, B.) To their motion, Plaintiffstath copies of elevedifferent brochure
developed by First American containingetllleged misrepresentations. (Bot
Decl. at Exhibit 33.) First American cont#s that all of the lmchures attached |
Plaintiffs were intended for use exclusivelytire real estate channel. (Hand Deg
1 29.)

Once escrow on a home purchase hasdiosirst American receives paym
for the home warranty contract, typicallycheck drawn on the escrow accol

(Miles Decl. at 1 4.) However, Firgtmerican does not receive a copy of

underlying real estate purchase agredmamd has no way d&nowing whether the

buyer or seller agreed to pay for the premiumisl. 4t 7 4.) After First Americg

als
ea
hes
n
ed
(
S
tini
Dy
l. at

ent
Int.

the

n

receives an order and payment, First Aicgr mails a copy of the home warranty

contract to the home buyerld(at { 4.)

B. Direct to Consumer Channel

First American createthe direct-to-consumearhannel in 2007. I4. at § 34.
The channel includes limited scalerestit mailings, telephone calls from F
American based on leads generated bydtparty vendors, rad plans purchasg
directly through FirsAmerican’s website. Id. at § 34; Bottini Decl. at Exhs. 44, 4
First American contends that because of the cost effectiveness of delivering mg
materials, purchasers are more likely te s&lvertising in an electronic forma
website or email — rather than ipant format. (Hand Decl. at § 3dee alsdottini
Decl. at Exhs. 10-14, 15 (“@ney Depo.”) at 113:8-115:15.)

-6 - 13cv1585

rst

2dl

5.)
arketir
[ —




© 00 N o 0o A~ W N P

N NN NN N N NN P P P B P P PP PR
© N o O~ W N P O © N O 0o M W N P O

C. Portfolio ManagementChannel

First American created the portfolio negement channel iRebruary 2013.
The channel is defined as purchasers buying b@ore warranties for their propertigs,
for any given year(Hand Decl. at § 33.)

D. Renewals

When a home warranty plan is aboutetqire, First American mails various
types of renewal correspondence to the hadfiéne plan. (Cranelecl. at 5.) The
holder of the plan is not necessartlye person who purchased the pland.)(
However, First American only mails rendwarrespondence to the holder of the plan,
regardless of who purchasdue plan originally. Id.) For a variety of reasorns,
approximately 7% to 10% of plan holdersver receive angenewal correspondence
from First American. Ifl. at 7 6.)

First American’s renewal correspondemganerally consistef a cover letterf,
plus one or more differemharketing inserts called “budtips.” (Craney Decl. at|{
7; Craney Depo. at 20:25-21:1ske alsdottini Decl. at Exh. 16.) At various times
during the class period, eithénree or four renewal leti® were sent, at various
intervals, prior to expirabin of a plan. (Craey Depo. at 74:8-24, 75:9-76:3, 84:1-9,
88:4-89:14; Miles Il Depo. at 26:4-24, 2715, 229:3-12.) Eactetter had several
versions. (Craney Depo. at 75:19-76:3, 884 Miles Il Depo. at 26:4-24, 27:5-10.)

The renewal correspondence varied antent throughout the class peripd.
(Craney Decl. at 1 8, 13-20; Craney Dep@4f-9.) Some of the cover letters and
buck slips contained the alletjg false representations, while others did not. (Craney
Decl. at 11 8, 9, 14-15, 17-18, 20, Exhs. As€e alsdBottini Decl. at Exh. 9.) The
renewal correspondence \&ti depending on the plan Hel’s payment method.
(Craney Decl. at 1Y 9, 11-14.) Duringe class period, First American used
approximately 106 different buck slipsyith each correspondence contairling

anywhere from one to threé these buck slips.Id. at § 16.) With limited exceptiorns,
pS

First American no longer has records ofiethplan holders received which buck s

-7 - 13cv1585
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as part of their renewal corpgmndence during the class periotd. at § 16.)

In addition to renewal coespondence, First American also utilizes “inside

sales” staff to call customers wigoplans are about to expireld.(at 1 22; Crane
Depo. at 74:5-16.) The sales staff is pagvided with any undrm written script o
guidelines, but instead is given discretemd rely on its judgment in attempting
convince the plan holder to renew. (&g Decl. at § 22.) On April 12, 2013,
average renewal premium for First Angam nationwide was $58Q(Craney Depc
at 67:13-22.)

E. Location

If plan holders choose to renew, thegn renew by tefghone, through Firs
American’s website, or by mail. (CranBgpo. at 63:21-25.) Iblan holders rene
by mail, the renewals are sent to Van Nugalifornia, regardless of where the p
holder is located in the United Statekl. 63:2-14.) First American does not maint
records on the method plan holders use to rentlvat(64:1-9, 66:1-11.)

First American maintains call centanrsSanta Rosa, California and Phoe
Arizona. (Craney Depo. &0:6-18; Miles Depo. at 2¥7-24.) The sales people w
work in the renewals and direct-to-con®muepartments are in one of those
locations. (Craney Depo. &0:6-22; Miles Il Depo. aR0:14-21:8.) The Firs
American marketing and salpsrsonnel who assist in ctagy the renewal letters g
located in Santa Rosa, California. (Cnabeepo. at 81:15-2%Mliles Il Depo. at 29:12
30:18.) Barry Miles, previously the Directof Call Center Operations and Ser

Director of Service Operations and nove tice-President of Operations, is locg

in Phoenix, Arizona. (Miles Decl. at 1 Rtiles Depo. at 8:22:3; Miles Il Depo. at

9:18-19.) He previously supervised persomméhe offices in Van Nuys and Phoer
as well as a “near shore operation” i tDominican Republic that is a third-pa
service provider. (Miles Depo. at 27:17-24, 29:12-16.)

The headquarters of First American i€alifornia. (Miles Il Depo. at 8:3-11.

Executives are located in Santa Rosa, Marys, and Irvine, Caldrnia, as well a
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Phoenix, Arizona and Texasld(at 9:6-12, 10:14-17.)

F. Contractors

Before entering the “First Americametwork,” independent contractors
required to sign a “Service Agreement” whirst American. (Miles Decl. at 2
see alsdottini Decl. at Exhs. 6, 7, & 29 (“Hoe Depo.”) at 30:26.) The Servic
Agreement requires contractors to, amastger things: (1) “agree[] to contg
homeowner within three hours of being amted by First American;” (2) “agree(]
Initiate servicaunder normal circumstances within B8urs of receipt of work ord
from First American;” (3) provide evidenca liability and worker's compensatic
insurance; and (4) “guarantee[] work perfeanfor a period ofhirty days and a

parts replaced for a period of ninety ddg@m completion of assignment.” (Mil

Decl. at 1 22see alsdottini Decl. at Exh. 7; GosseliDepo. at 117:16-118:5.) Fif

American also requires that each of its cactiors be licensed the appropriate trade,

which First American confirms with thelexant regulatory agency. (Miles Decl
19 23, 24; Gosselin Depo. at 117:16-118frst American also tracks the expirat
date of its contractors’ licenses to ensiin@y are current. (Miles Decl. at 1 24.)

First American utilizes various pricingrgttures for its contractors, includi

“uni-price,” “flat rate,” “default,” “allinclusive,” “bid,” and “value” paymer

methods. (Miles Decl. at § 28¢e alsdottini Decl. at Exh. 8Bottini Decl. at Exhs.

25 (“Kaszynski Depo.”) at 147:11-148:1, 39.he pricing structures vary by what
contractor is obligated to pay and First émean is obligated to pay for each |

(Miles Decl. at 1 25.) The percentagecohtractors on any given pricing struct

has varied considerably since 2003. (Miles Decl. at $@&;alsdKaszynski Depaq.

at 156:10-21.)

First American sends “Welcome Aboanpickages to all contractors. (Ho
Depo. at 30:2-32:7.) Each contractor rgesithe same packagdthough the packag
has changed over the yeartd. @t 30:2-32:7.) Packages are sent out via e-mai
or mail. (d. at 32:16-20.)
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In allocating work to a contractor, RirAmerican claims “[e]ach contractof

circumstances are unique and are conel@n a case-by-case basis,” without
factor being determinative. (Miles Deelt § 28; Kaszynski Depo. at 144:8-18.)

allocating a percentage of vkoto a contractor, First Aarican asserts that it tak

into consideration the following factors: M9lume of work a contractor is capabld
handling; (2) the number of other contractibrast work in the same trade for the sg
geographic area; and (3) “various cost padormance-related criteria.” (Miles De
at 1 28, 29see alsdottini Decl. Exhs. 36-38.)

one

es
b of
me

cl.

Evaluating contractor performance indes analyzing a number of reparts,

including homeowner complaint (“partngrolation”) reports, re-dispatch repof
continuation reports, recall (call-back) percentage repartash out reports, rep
versus replace reportsydireimbursement reportéMiles Decl. at 11 30, 33ee als(
Bottini Decl. at Exhs. 5, 53, 63; Kaszyn§kpo. at 158:3-14; Horne Depo. at 215
217:20.) First American claims it does notpose any hard or fixed numeri
standard that its contractors must satisty,it will follow up if one of the performant
reports is unusually high. (Ms Decl. at {1 31, 39; Bottini Decl. at Exhs. 5, 19
23, 36-38, 54; Kaszynski Depat 144:8-18.) If First American is not satisfied v

the contractor’s response to the follow up, it may either reduce or eliminate thJe wor
n

it allocates to that contracto(Miles Decl. at 1 31; Bottiridecl. at Exhs. 20 (“Gosse
Depo.”) at 102:20-24; 107:14-109:20 & 52.)rdtiAmerican states that it routing

reduces or eliminates work allocations duensatisfactory performance reports, €

ts,

Air

A=)

19-
cal
e
21,
ith

i
ply
ven

where the contractor’'s average cost peftoice is no higher than other similarly

situated contractors. (Miles Decl. at  31r) allocating work to contractors, Fi
American claims it does not consider the rate of denial of claims service(
contractor. Id. at 1 32.)

For each claim, First American expeittscontractors to first assess wheth
Is both possible and approgeaunder the circumstances,répair a broken syste

or appliance, rather than replacing théirensystem or appliance outright. (Mi

—-10 - 13cv1585
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Decl. at  27; Kaszynski Depo. at 143:23-144:7.) In one of iksowee packages
contractors, First American stated: “FAa®king for repair oriented contractors. )
would like for you to attempt repair be&you recommend replacement.” (Bot
Decl. at Exh. 6see alsdottini Decl. at Exhs. 54-56, 686.) First American claim
it does not encourage its contractors to make “inappropriate reparsrepair ai
item when replacement is warranted. (Mi2ecl. at 127.From approximately 20(
to 2011, based on historical data, First Aiceen established the goal of a 6% to

replacement rate for “HVAC,i'e., heating, ventilation,ral air conditioning, work.

(Gosselin Depo. at 106:19-1Q17; Bottini Decl. at Exh. 19.)
First American attempts to track regeeplacement percentages for a cel
subset of contractors (uni-price, flat rate default pricing structure), although

definitions of “repair” and “eplace” “are to darge degree arbitrary and are usec

Tt

0
Ne
tini

S

—

8
8%

tain

its

for

comparative purposes only.” (Miles Decl. ¥t 33, 34.) For example, replacing a

part in an appliance may be considegetrepair’ or a “replacement.”ld. at T 34.
In addition, First American’s designation oértain claims as &pair” or “replace
depends on the contractor’s price structurdéd. &t 7 35-38.) With respect
replacement items that First American coyé@nmaintains records of those purcha
(Id. at 9 36.) For contractors that have all-inclusive pricing which covers the pU
of all parts, First American does not maintain information on those purchdgs.

First American does not keep trackhmfw much its customers pay other t
the service trade fee. (Mdel Depo. at 77:8-10; Horne Pe. at 187:2-6.) The servi
trade fee is listed in the plan holder’s contract and generally varies by location.
[l Depo. at 73:2-20.) A contractor does meted to call First American if it cove
anything not covered by the contractd. (@t 78:3-4.) Non-ogered charges may
reflected in the “Notes” section in Falcdfigst American’s software. (Miles Il Dep
at 94:5-95:12; Horne Depo. at 186:8-23, 2130; Bottini Decl. at Exh. 50.) Fir

)

to
5€S.

rchas

nan

(Mile
rs
pe
0.

St

American surveys its customers everyponth, but does not proactively solicit

information on fees paid for non-coveredarges. (Miles Il Depo. at 106:10-

—-11 - 13cv1585
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117:14-16.)
G. Mandatory Arbitration Agreements
First American began adding mandatampitration provisions to new hor
warranty plans used in the portfolio managat channel in February 2013. (H4
Decl. at 1 36.) Between February 2013 aady 2014, First Ararican began addir

arbitration clauses to its contracts on a state-by-state and channel-by-chanr']el ba:

(Id.) By early 2014, all new plans issuedall channels had mandatory arbitra
clauses. I1¢l.)

H. Plaintiffs’ Class Claims

Plaintiffs seek to certify a class forteémtional misrepresentation, neglig
misrepresentation, fraud by concealmenonussory fraud, unfair, unlawful
fraudulent conduct in violation dhe UCL, and false adveritng). (Mot at pp. 2-3.)

1. Intentional and Neqgligent Misrepresentation

Plaintiffs allege First American madeveral “uniform and identical writtg
representations” to the named Plaintiffelaaach member of the Class, which W
contained in First American’s starrdahome warranty contract and writf
advertisements. (Consol. Compl. at 194,104.) The representations include
First American covers unknown defects) frst American provides coverage
systems and appliances which malfunction doidack of maintenance, rust
corrosion, or chemical or sedimentaryildup; (3) repair/replacement costs ra
between $85 and $7,500; (4) the cost with a First American plan is just $55; (
American responded to nearly 900,000 service requests and saved homeowr
$121 million dollars in home repair costs2007; (5) First American is a subsidi
of First American Corporation; and (Baving a First American home warranty O
home will give it a competitive edgwver other homes on the markeld. @t  64.)

Plaintiffs contend these representatiang false because: (1) First Amerif

routinely denies claims with pre-exiggirconditions; (2) First American routine

denies claims for pre-textual reasonsgluding lack of maintenance, rust, &
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corrosion, even if these things are notchase of the malfunction; (3) First Americ

trains its employees to deny legitimaterwaaty claims based on pre-textual reas
(4) First American financially incentivizass contractors to deny legitimate clai
and/or perform substandard repairs; E&kt American createsconomic incentive
for contractors to shift the cost of repairreplacement onto the consumer; (6) K
American routinely delays authorizing r@sar purchasing necessary equipment
First American’s customers routinely hat@ pay more than the service call
because First American’s contractors causst Rimerican to deny, in whole or pad
claims that should have been covenadder the policy; (8) First Americar
contractors routinely gouge customers floe “non-covered” portions of warrar
replacements and repairs; (9) First Amerisaontractors routinely upsell custom
for repairs and replacements that areaoviered under the homearranty plan; (10
First American has no way of knowing how chuits customers have to pay ouj
their pocket for repairs andpkacements because it does keép track of such cos
(11) First American paid out only $94illion in claims during 2007; (12) Fir
American is a subsidiary of First Americdrtle Insurance Company; and (13) th
IS no evidence a First American home watyagives the seller a competitive edgs
the market. I(. at 7 64.)

2. Concealment

Plaintiffs allege that FitsAmerican had a duty to disclose all material fac
its insureds pursuant to Califoaninsurance Code section 332d. @t  108.) Give
this duty, Plaintiffs allege that Defenddmailed to disclose the following: (1) Fi
American tells its contractors to repaather than replacéems, even where
replacement is necessary, and even under situations where repairing ratt
replacing an item would posdlareat to the safety of ISt American’s customer; (
the consumer will pay significant sums oaft pocket for the replacements F
American does authorizepave and beyond what theyJsaalready paid for th

premium and service call feel8) First American pays its contractors significa

—-13 - 13cv1585
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below retail rates; (4) First American allows contractors to charge full retail rjtes

to First American’s customers and en@ges its contractors to earn their m

ney

mostly from the customer; (5) First American does not police its contractors with

respect to charges they impose on Firsefinan’s customers above and beyond First

American’s coverage under the home wagaians and intentionally does not keep

track of these charges; and (6) First Aroan encourages a “race to the bottom” with

respect to its contractors, by rewarding thado keep their averagost per call atja

minimum. (d. at § 109.)

3. Promissory Fraud

Plaintiffs allege that First Americangmnises customers that it will repair|or

replace covered systems, and the insundawly pay the serviceall fee to have any

covered system repaired or replacenl. &t 11 116-119.) Plaifs allege that Firs
American never had anyteantion of complying with these promisedd.(at 11 120
121))

4. UCL and FAL

—

Plaintiffs allege First American violkadl the unfair, fraudulent, and unlawful

prongs of the UCL. Id. at { 134.) Plaintiffs allegedhFirst American violated the
unlawful prong by: (1) engaging in the fraadtlined above; (2) violating the FAL;

(3) breaching its contracts with Plaintiffgt) violating the implied covenant of gopd

faith and fair dealing; (5) violating Catifnia Insurance Code section 332; and

violating California’s Unfainnsurance Practices Actld( at 11 135-139.) Plaintiffs

(6)

also allege First American violated the UCL and FAL by making or causing|to be

made the untrue and misleadingtstnents set forth aboveld.(at  144.)
L. Named Plaintiffs

1. NancyCarrera

Plaintiff Nancy Carrera (“Carrera’purchased a home in Virginia Beagch,

Virginia in or about February 2009. (EQ®. 128-10 (“Shophet €cl.”) at Exh. B at

19:11-14.) Carrera’s realtage agent, Jen Basnight, purchased a First American|home

- 14 - 13cv1585




© 00 N o 0o A~ W N P

N NN NN N N NN P P P B P P PP PR
© N o O~ W N P O © N O 0o M W N P O

warranty plan for Carrera ioonnection with the home purchase. (Shophet D¢
Exh. B at 119:18-121:23; Exhs. K, L; CahsCompl. at Exh. A.) Ms. Basnig
informed Carrera that she purchases plss courtesy for the people who use
services. (Shophet Decl. at Exh. B at 15123.) The money ocae from the seller’
funds. (d. at Exhs. K, L.)

Carrera recalls discussing over the phone with Ms. Basnight the ty
services and warranties offered by First American and 2-10 Home Buyers Weé
(Bottini Decl. Il at Exh. 85 at 52:8-54:18. Carrera testified she picked a hg
warranty company based in part on this conversationat54:6-8.) Prior to learnir
that Ms. Basnight had purchased a Firsteficen home warranty plan for her, Cart
does not recall seeing ang\wertising about a home wanty company. (Shoph
Decl. at Exh. B at 120:11-24.) After MBasnight informed Carrera that she
purchased a home warranty plan for hemré€a went online and did some resed
about First American.Iq. at 120:6-10, 121:6-8.) Carrera testified that she liked
American’s broad range of services and their low service fdeat(121:6-8.)

Shortly after escrow closed on her homeéer closing packet, Carrera recei

her First American contract along witbeveral brochuredor home warrant

cl. at
ht

her

Des 0
Arranty
me

19

era
et
had
arch
First

ved

y

companies. (Bottini Decat Exh. 34 at 137:15-138:22; ECF No. 129-1 (“Bottini Decl.

[I") at Exh. 85 at 40:8-14118:14-18, 134:16-21.) Carrera reviewed the
American brochure. (Bottini Decl. akk 34 at 137:15-138:22.) The brochure
attached “First American Home Warrarffample Contract” contain several of
alleged misrepresentationsSefe id at Exh. 34 at Exh. 13.)

After reviewing the brochures, Carretestified that she found “importan

“[tlhe service charge being low of $10Mat it covered a broad, broad variety

First
and
the

lt”

of

appliances in [her] home, the customervee satisfaction[,] and . . . the quick

response.” (Bottini Decl. at Exh. 34 at 142:141:5; Bottini Decl. Il at Exh. 85

116:14-117:19.) Carrera alseent on First American’s website at the time

received the brochures. (Botitidecl. at Exh. 34 at 141:6-1)1 Carrera reviewed this

- 15— 13cv1585
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information before the deadline toncl her First American policy.Id. at Exh. 34
at 139:4-140:5.)

Carrera’s First American home warnamian was effective from February ?
2009 through February 12010. (Miles Decl. at § 14.) In June 2009, she m43
claim with respect to lmair conditioning unit. Ifl. at Exh. E.) Caera did not rene
her plan upon expiration.Id; at  14.)

2. Karenelullien

Plaintiff Karene Jullien (“Jullien” purchased a home in Sherman O
California in or about June 2010. (Shopbetl. at Exhs. E (“Jullien Depo.”) at 18:
— 20:10; U, V.) The home purchase agreetrexecuted by Jullien states that
seller of the property was gansible for paying the cost, not to exceed $350, of

year home warranty plan to be deteredrby the buyer during the escrow per

==

4

PO,
ide a

v

aks,
20
the

A one
od.

(Shophet Decl. at Exh. U, § 4(E)(5).) \Wever, a later revised invoice indicates

Jullien might have purchased the plan herself for $3RD.a{ 27, Exh. W.)

After reviewing the evidence submiiteby all parties, it is unclear wi
purchased the initial plan. During Jullien’s deposition, however, she testified tl
did not choose First American, and theraasevidence that she read or relied on
representations from First American. Jullehbroker in connection with this purchj
was Ronald Zate.ld. at Exh. E at 20:12-20.) Julli¢estified that prior to the clos
of escrow she did not discuss any spedifome warranty compg with Mr. Zate
(Id. at 51:9-16.) However, she informed M&tu Bryan, the individual responsil

for obtaining her home warranty plan, thae stanted a plan that would specifice

cover her AC. (BottinDecl. Il. At Exh. 87 at 39:17-41:16 She informed Ms. Bryap:

“It doesn’t [which company] matteas long as it covers the AC.1d( at 39:20-21.
Jullien later testified that she does not knelo ultimately chose First American 8
did not do any research comparing differeaime warranty companies prior to cl
of escrow. (Shophet Dedt Exh. E at 51:2-25.)

nat sh
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Y
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Jullien’s initial First American Home Wianty Plan was effective from June

- 16 — 13cv1585
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17, 2010 through June 16, 2011. (Miles Dextlf 21.) Durindher initial contrag
term, beginning in or around April 2011, Jullien made claims with respect to
conditioning unit, in that itvas not cooling properly and it was dripping. (Sho
Decl. at Exh. E at 97:7-24; MieDecl. at { 20, Exh. |.)

In or around October 2011, Jullien reneMieer contract with First Americ:

effective October 14, 2011(Miles Decl. at § 21see alsaConsol. Compl. (ECF No.

116) at Exh. D.) Prior to this renelalullien spoke with a First Americi
representative over the phone. (Bottini Décht Exh. 87 at 138:23-139:18.) S
asked the technician to confirm whethenot her old air conditioning system wo
be covered, and he confirméwht it would be covered.ld. at 139:5-18.) Accordin

to Jullien, the First American representative “said that he understood that the

—t

ner ail
hhet

g
syste

was old, and they would take on the remaireplacement of the system if it failed

again. And he even said wouldn’t thatdweeet for less than $500 a month — a ye

(Id. at 139:14-18.)

In August 2012, Jullien received a 640.88 cash settlement in lieu of
replacement of her hydronic air handlerjethshe accepted. (8phet Decl. at Exh
Z, AA, BB.) Jullien was ultimately satisfiegith how First American resolved t
claim she had madeld( at Exh. E at 69:2-20.)

Jullien’s plan expired on Odber 13, 2012. (Craney Dk at § 10; Miles Dec].

at  21.) On or around August 6, 2018|lien was mailed aauto-renewal cove

11

letter and notice. (@ney Decl. at § 10.) She did mehew her second home warranty

plan. (Miles Decl. at 1 21.)

3. BrentMorrison

Brent Morrison (“Morrison”) purchaskea home in Canyon Country, Califor
in or around April 2012. (Shophet Decl.Eaths. C at 21:5-9, M\; Bottini Decl. aj
Exh. 69, § 2.) The Purchaggreement and Joint Escrow Instructions execute
Morrison states that the seller of the prdpe&vas responsible for paying the cost,

to exceed $375, of a one year home wayrplen issued by First American. (Shop

—-17 - 13cv1585
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Decl. at Exh. M, § 4(D)(6).) In Aprie012, Morrison’s real estate agent, Da
Tresierras, ordered a First Amean home warranty planld¢ at Exhs. C at 16:17-2
Q, R.) Mr. Tresierras informed Morrisdre chose First American because a
client of his said they do a good job. hfphet Decl. at ExIC at 25:5-15; Bottin
Decl. at Exh. 70, § 2.) Mr. Tresiag and Morrison dichot have any othg
conversations about First Americanigpr to Morrison signing the Purcha
Agreement, or any convetsons about other home wanty companies. (Shoph
Decl. at Exh. C at 25:16-25.)

After Mr. Tresierras ordered the plan,iamoice was sent to Mr. Tresierras 4

the escrow company. (ShophetdDet Exh. R.) Howeveass reflected in subsequz

Sale Escrow Instructions (dated aftee Purchase Agreement and Joint Es¢

row

Instructions) the sellers countered the manof the deal and did not provide a gne-

year home warranty plan for the propertythe transaction. (Shophet Decl. at E)
O, Q; Bottini Decl. at Exh. 69, § 2.)

When Morrison signed the loan dogents, he still understood that a hg
warranty was includedShophet Decl. at Exhs. Q, R-e subsequently made a clg
on the plan on May 8, 2012Id( at Exh. P.) Upon beingformed that no plan hé
been purchased, Morrison purchasdeéirst American plan.Id. at Exhs. R, P.) Fir
American backdated the plamthe date the first clainvas made on the propertyd (|
at Exh. P.) Therefore, Morrison’s Fisinerican home warranty plan was effect
from May 8, 2012 through May 2013. (Miles Decl. at 1 16; Shophet Decl. at E
S.) Morrison did not renew his plan upotpgation. (Miles Decl. at 1 16.)

In a declaration filed in state couNlorrison states that he received seV|
different brochures from different homearranty companies wth solicited him tc
buy a home warranty contract afescrow closed on his house. (Bottini Decl. at |
69, 1 3.) He claims he chose First Arnan based on the “benefits and covel
provided by First American . . . comparéd the contracts offered by [oth

companies], as well as the faleait [his] real estate agt had previously recommenc

- 18 — 13cv1585
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First American.” [d. at Y 4.) Itis unclear whevlorrison read the brochure, as
does not reference his initial claim and awibn, and which representations in
brochure he relied on.

Morrison did not retain the brochure hadeand relied on, but attaches one
Is “substantially similar” to the one he reged. (Bottini Decl. aExh. 69, T 4, Ex}
A.) The brochure and attached “First Ancan Home Warranty Sample Contrg
contain several of the afjed misrepresentationsld))

4. AnnaHershey

Anna Hershey (“Hershey”) purchased arteoon Cliffridge Avaue in La Jollg
California (“Cliffridge Property”) in 1999(Shophet Decl. at § 22, Exh. D at 12:6
Prior to July 2011, Hershey rentids property to tenantsld( at 13:3-12.) After thg
date, Hershey personaliyed on the property.Iq. at 13:3-12.)

Hershey received a First American hmmwarranty plan for the property a

he
the

that

Ict”

8.)

5 a

gift in 1999. (d. at 19:10-17, 74:19-25; Bottini Dedt Exh. 70 at  2.) Hershey

renewed the plan from time to time. (Shapbecl. at Exh. D at 20:10-22; Bott
Decl. at Exh. 70 at 1 2.) As relevantthas case, Hershey purchased a plan for,
property effective July 2, 2@ through July 1, 2011. (Miles Decl. at {1 19; Bo

Decl. at Exh. 70 at § 2.$he renewed her plan upon expoa. (Miles Decl. at § 19;

Bottini Decl. at Exh. 70 at 1 2.) Her nevaplwas effective Jul2, 2011 through Ju
1,2012. (Miles Decl. at § 19.) She initiatgnewed this plan aft@xpiration in July
2012, but changed her minddareceived a refund.ld. at Exh G at 558.)

Hershey also purchased a home on Westbourne Street in La Jolla, Ca
(“Westbourne Property”) in 1985. (Shophet Detlf 23, Exh. D at 28:5-7.) Prior
moving into the Cliffridge Property in Bu 2011, she lived in the Westbout
Property. [d. at Exh. D at 22:13-25.) Hersheydot purchase the First Amerig
home warranty plan for the Cliffridge Property contemporaneously with the prg

(Id. at § 23, Exh. D at 28:8-11.) HersHegt purchased a home warranty plan \

First American for the Westbourne Property in or around 200d.. a{ Exh. D at

—-19 - 13cv1585
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28:12-21.) She thereafter renewed the hormeganty contract for this propertyld(
at 1 23, Exh. D at 30:9-12.)

As relevant to this case, Hershey ghased a First American home warranty

plan for the Westbourne Property etiee May 16, 2011 through May 15, 20
(Miles Decl. at § 19.) She remed her plan upon expirationld(at § 19.) Her ne
plan was effective May 12012 through May 17, 2013Id( at § 19.) She did n
renew the plan after expirationld(at § 19.)

In 2009 and 2010, Hershey attended claasd4esa College to obtain her r

12.
v

ot

estate license. (Shophet DeatlExh. D at 35:7-25.) Wle she was at Mesa College,

First American home warranty plans neepitched by Lisa Wood, an afrea

representative, who handed dtitst American brochuresld; at 36:17-25; Mile

Decl. at Exh. G, p. 513.)Hershey also received First American brochures

Prudential, Grossmont College, and REBA, whech La Jolla real ¢ate association.

(Shophet Decl. at Exh. D at 38:11-16, 4Q@2) Hershey stated in an April 2013

declaration that she saw and relied on “pumnis advertisements from Defendant First

American” at an unspecified time. (Bottibecl. at Exh. 70 at  3.) Hershey further

stated that the unspecified “statementd aepresentations” in the brochures “were

significant and substantial reasons thatsealu[her] to purchase the home warranty

contracts from First American.”ld.) She attaches two broclesrto her declaration.

(Id. atf 2, Exhs. B, C.) The brochuresl attached “First Arican Home Warran

Sample Contract” contain severaltbé alleged misrepresentation$d. @t 1 4, Exhs.

B, C.)

Prior to the time she purchased mnewed her home warranty contracts,

Hershey states that she received “humesmlditional advertiseants and brochures

from First American,” which she specificallsecalls stated that: First Ameridan

provided both repair andpkacement coveragshe would only pagne small servige

fee for each covered claim; the homersaaty contracts provided budget protecii

for costly breakdowns; and First Americhad a “large network of ‘pre-screen

- 20— 13cv1585
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certified service technicians.”Id. at 1 4.) Hershey states that these represent
were “significant and material represedmdas,” which influenced her decision
purchase a First American home warranty @witinstead of contracts offered
numerous competitorsid()

Hershey also claims she received lsttbom First American urging her
renew her contracts.d{ at § 5.) Hershey says stead and relied upon these leff
in renewing her coverage, audition to the First Americaorochures and ads she |
previously seen.lIq.)

In early 2011, Hershey maintaineddog” on Zillow called “Anna Hershey’
Advice.” (Shophet Decl. at Exhs. D at 821; T.) On the blog, she answere
guestion about home warranty ccamges on January 5, 2011ld.(at Exh. T.) Ir

response, she stated: “Hi. | am vdmgppy with First American Home Buysg

ations

to

by

to
ers

nad

UJ

da
)

er'S

Protection. Also used them for a rental. afable service is all spelld [sic] out in the

contract, they respond promptlgffiliated with Prudential.” [d. at Exh. T.) Hershe
did not Google First American, however, until after she had problems with tiebr
at Exh. D at 74:9-18.)
Hershey had claims relating to an ov@oor denied on the Cliffridge Prope
in or around November 2010 and May 2012 because thagkawas determined 1
to be due to normal wear and tear. (Mil@ecl. at Exh. G, pp. 529, 541-548, 5}
She also had a claim relating to an odewor on the Westbourne Property denie
June 2012 because the damags determined not to be ditenormal wear and ted
(Id. at Exh. H, pp. 566-574.)
5. EmilyDiaz
In or around November 2007, Emily DidZiaz”) purchased a resident
property with multiple units on Brighton Amee in San Diego, California. (Shop
Decl. at § 36, Exhs. FF, HH, & CC at 81:88:25.) The Purchase Agreement for
property represents that the seller will gaya one-year home warranty plan iss
by CRES, not to exceed $750d.(at Exhs. FF at 268 & Cé&t 86:8-13.) The countg

-21 - 13cv1585
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offer states that the home warrantymgany will be the seller’s choiceld( at Exh
FF at 266 & CC at 87:9-89:7.[piaz was represented duy the purchase by realf
Jimmy Loucks. Id. at Exh. CC at 82:19-83:2.)

Diaz testified that she first became@ntract holder with First American
December 2007 in connection witretBrighton Avenue property.ld; at Exhs. C(
at 14:23-15:3 & GG.) Prior to receivirfger First American home warranty contr
in the mail, she never spoke with anybodyiast American, wenbnline to researg
the company, or read ababem in the paper.Id. at Exh. CC at 208:11-209:11.)

During her contract with First AmericabBiaz submitted a claim for a shov

drain that was not draining properly in Mh 2008, and a claim for a water heate

or

in

act
h

yer

rin

December 2008.1d. at Exh. CC at 76:13-78:3, 186:14-20; Consol. Compl. at § 53.)

First American denied the claims. (Shophet Decl. at Exh. CC at 168:12-20.
ultimately hired and paid outsidemtractors to fix these issuesld.(at Exh. CC §
76:13-78:3, 168:12-25.)
.  PROCEDURAL HISTORY*

A. Diaz Action

On March 6, 2009, Emily Diaz (“De) commenced a aks action again
Defendant in San Dieg8uperior Court. Qiaz v. First American Home Buysg
Protection CorporationCase No. 09-cv-00775-BAS(JL.BDiaz Action”), ECF No

1, Exh. A.) On April 152009, Defendant removed thed2iAction to federal court

pursuant to the Class Action Fairnesg A£2005 (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1332, 1
U.S.C. § 1441(a) and (b), and 28 U.S.C. § 1453.) (
On June 22, 2009, the Court granteddddant’s motion to dismiss Diaz’s th

cause of action for violation of the Consemh.egal Remedies A¢‘CLRA”) without

) Dia

—

St

er'S

P8

rd

leave to amend and Diaz'’s fourth cause ¢ibador violation of the UCL to the extent

4 The Court takes judicial notice ofigur filings in the Diaz Action and t

Carrera Action. $eeECF No. 128-1 at Exhs. A-P, U-WSeeFed. R. Evid. 201(b);

Lee v. City of Los Angele®50 F.3d 668, 689-90 (9th Cir. 2001).

- 22 — 13cv1585
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it relies on a violation of Gdornia Insurance Code 88 7@dseqor the CLRA. (Dia
Action, ECF No. 15.) Th€ourt also dismissed without prejudice Diaz’s fifth
sixth causes of action for intentional misrepresentation and false protaige. (

On July 24, 2009, Diaz filed a First AaAnded Complaint. (Diaz Action, EC(
No. 16.) On September 21, 2009, the Cowstrussed Diaz’s UCL aim to the exter
it relies on the violations of section 360seq of the California Insurance Code 4
section 700t seq of the California Business amttofessions Code(Diaz Action
ECF No. 24.) The Court also dismissed Dsdpurth and fifth causes of action to
extent they rely on fiadulent concealment.ld.) Defendant filed an Answer to t
First Amended Complaint on October 2009. (Diaz Action, ECF No. 25.)

With leave of Court, Diaz filed a 8end Amended Complaion May 17, 2010.

(Diaz Action, ECF No. 38.0n July 23, 2010, the Court granted Defendant’s m¢
to dismiss the UCL claim on the grounds theam was based on adjed violations o
the California Unfair Insurance PracticAst (“UIPA”), which provides no privat
right of action. (Diaz Action, ECF No. 51jat3.) The Court ab struck paragrap
41(b)-(e) from the SAC. Id. at pp. 4-5.) Defendant filed an Answer to the Se
Amended Complaint on August 23, 201(@iaz Action, ECF No. 54.)

On July 8, 2011, Diaz moved for classrtification. (Diaz Action, ECF No.

87.) The proposed class consisted of:

All persons and entities in the lted States who, during the period
from approximately March 6, 2003rtugh the present (the “Class
Period”), purchased, and/or madeclaim under, a home-warranty
policy issued by Defendant First AAgmcan Home Buyers Protection
Corporation. Excluded from the skare defendanta@their parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, all governmtal entities, and co-conspirators.

(Id. at p. 2.) The proposed class wasinested to contain at least 1,339,
individuals. (d.) Diaz sought to certify two akses, a damagekss under Fedel
Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2), amal class seeking rescission and restity
damages under Ru23(b)(3). (d.) Diaz sought class certification of not only

breach of contract, breach of impliedvenant of good faith and fair dealil

- 23— 13cv1585
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intentional misrepresentation, negligensmepresentation, and false promise claims,

but also for her dismissed UCLaain to preserve her rightsid(at p. 16.)

On September 8, 2011, the Court deridealz’'s motion for class certification.

(Diaz Action, ECF No. 114.) ®Court denied certificain of Diaz’s claims undg

Rule 23(b)(2) on the grounds they failed the superiority and predominance a

2l

nalysi

(Id. at pp. 8-13.) The Court further denieertification under Rule 23(b)(3) on the

grounds Diaz’s allegations biture harm were “purely ggulative” and Diaz did n(
offer evidence to rebut Defendant’s eviderthat the independent contractors dc
deny claims and only deny appromtely 4% of claims. Id. at p. 14.) The Court d
not address Diaz’s UCL claim.

Following the Court’s denial of classraécation, Defendant moved to dism
for lack of subject matter jurisdiction @ctober 31, 2011 on tlggounds Diaz refuse
to accept its Rule 68 Offer of Judgment for an amount greater than any amc
could possibly recover at trial. (Diaz #an, ECF No. 125.) On November 29, 20
the Court granted the motion to dissi (Diaz ActionECF No. 129.)

On November 18, 2013, the Ninth Circheld that “an unaccepted Rule
offer that would fully satisfy a plaintiff'slaim is insufficient to render the cla
moot.” (Diaz Action, ECHNo. 163 at 16.) The Ninth Circuit also vacated
dismissal of Diaz’'s concéaent and UCL claims.1qd.) The Ninth Circuit held th;
Diaz adequately alleged violations oetblCL “because her claims are premise(
fraud, breach of contract and breach @& tmplied covenant of good faith and 1
dealing, even if [Defendas{ alleged conduct also mdave violated [UIPA].” d
at 20.)

The remaining claims in thBiaz matter after appeal therefore included ¢
claims for (1) concealment and (2) violatioithe UCL, and indiidual claims for (1
breach of contract, (2) breaohthe implied covenant ajood faith and fair dealin
(3) intentional misrepresentation, (4)gtigent misrepresentation, and (5) fg

promise.
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B. Carrera Action

On September 23, 2009, Carrera dil@a class action complaint agai

Defendant in Los Angeles Supe Court (“Carrera Action”).(ECF No. 1 at Exh. A;
Diaz Action, ECF No. 65-2.) The complaimitially sought only injunctive and

declaratory relief. (ECF No. 1 at Exh. ADefendant attempted to remove the Ca
Action to federal court three timedd(at {1 7, 12; Diaz Action, ECF No. 170-1 g
2.) Twice it was transferred from the Cehtastrict of California to the Southe
District of California and remanded. (EGI6. 1 at 1 7-16.) After the second rem;
on or about August 23, 2012, Carreradile Second Amended Complaint in |
Angeles Superior Court, adding plainti#gina Hershey, Karee Jullien, and Bre
Morrison. (d. at Exh. O.)

On September 6, 2013, following Defentarthird removal, the Court deni

Plaintiffs’ motion to remand. (ECF No. 44Following the Ninth Circuit’s decisiq

nst

Ny

rera
tp.
n
And,
L0S
nt

d

n

(D

in the Diaz Action, Plaintiffs in the Carrefection were granted leave to file a Third

Amended Complaint, which &y did on November 6, 2013ECF Nos. 51, 52.) Q
January 17, 2014, the Courtaed Defendant’s motion to dismiss the Third Amen
Complaint. (ECF No. 72.)

In the Third Amended Complaint, Plaifs alleged the following class clain
(1) tortious breach of the implied covenahgood faith and fair dealing; (2) violati
of California Civil Code § 1710(3) (conde#ent); (3) violation of California Civ

Code 8§ 1710(4) (promissory fraud); (4) a vtaa of the UCL,; (5) false advertising;

and (6) declaratory relief; as well as indival claims for breach of contract on be
of plaintiffs Carrera, Hersheynd Morrison. (ECF No. 52.)
C. Intervention

On December 17, 2010, Ms. i©era moved to intervenin the Diaz Action o

the grounds her claims share common qaastof law and fact(Diaz Action, ECK
No. 62 at p. 2.) Diaz did not oppose theemention. (Diaz Action, ECF No. 64.)

Defendant opposed the intertiem on the grounds that it waintimely. (Diaz Action
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ECF No. 65 at pp. 1-2.) On January 2Q@11, the Court denied Ms. Carrera’s mo
to intervene on the grounds that it was “not tyredlthis late stage in the case.” (C
Action, ECF No. 69 at p. 4.)

D. Consolidation

On July 3, 2014, Diaz filed a motido consolidate the Diaz Action and
Carrera Action. (Diaz Action, ECRo. 170.) Following a limited opposition

Defendant, the Court granted the motionding that consolidan for all purpose

under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure d#p) was warranted(Diaz Action, ECF

No. 180, at p. 8.) The Court designateel @arrera Action to be the Lead Case u

the captionin re First American Home BuyeRyotection Corporation Class Actic

Litigation, Lead Case No. 13-cv-01585-BAS(JLBnd ordered the parties to fil¢

consolidated complaint, which containedmew allegations or causes of actiofd.
at pp. 9-10.) Thereafter, Defendant was eddo file an answer to the consolids
complaint which contained no new affiative defenses or counterclaimdd. @t p
10.)

On October 9, 2014, Plaintiffs fileal Consolidated Class Action Comple
against Defendant alleging: (1) tortiougéch of the implied covenant of good fz
and fair dealing; (2) violation of @fornia Civil Code § 1710(1) (intention
misrepresentation); (3) violation of @falnia Civil Code 8§ 1710(2) (neglige
misrepresentation); (4) violation of California Civil Code 8§ 1710(3) (fraug
concealment); (5) violatiomf California Civil Code§ 1710(4); (6) violation @
California Business and Professions Code 88 17€06eq (the “UCL"); (7) false

advertising; (8) breach of contracéind (9) declaratory relief(ECF Nos. 115, 1186.

On October 31, 2014, Defendant filed @amswer to the Consolidated Class Ac
Complaint. (ECF No. 117.)
i

° The breach of contract claim Ising brought solg on behalf o

Plaintiffs Carrera, HersheWorrison, and Diaz individually (ECF No. 115 at p. 49.
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. LEGAL STANDARD

The class action is “an exception to thaalsule that litigation is conducted
and on behalf of the indigtual named parties only ¥Val-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukg
564 U.S. 338, 131 S. Ct. 2541, 2550 (2011) (qudiiatifano v. Yamasak#42 U.S
682, 700-01 (1979)). “In der to justify a departurérom that rule, ‘a clas
representative must be part of the class“@odsess the same interest and suffe
same injury” as the class membersld. (citing E. Tex. Motor Fraght Sys., Inc.
Rodriguez431 U.S. 395, 403 (1977)). “To coméhin the exception, a party seek

to maintain a class action ‘must affirmagly demonstrate his [or her] complian

by

S
r the

/.

ng

ce

with Rule 23.” Comcast Corp. v. Behrend33 S. Ct. 1426, 1432 (2013) (quoting

Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2551-2552%¢ee alsdMlazza v. Am. Honda Motor Co., Ir
666 F.3d 581, 588 (9th Cir. 2012).

Rule 23 “does not set forthmaere pleading standardld. (quotingWal-Mart,
131 S. Ct. at 2551.) Rather, a party mussga‘through evidentiary proof” all of th
requirements of Rule 23(a), and at least one of the requirements of Rule 23
see alsdJnited Steel, Paper & Fostry, Rubber, Mfg. Engy, Allied Indus. & Ser
Workers Int'l Union v. ConocoPhillips C693 F.3d 802, 806 (9th Cir. 201d@)nser
v. Accufix Research Inst., In@53 F.3d 1180, 1186, amend2/73 F.3d 1266 (9th C
2001).

Rule 23(a) outlines four requirementBat must be satisfied for clg
certification: (1) the class must be somerous that joinder of all members
impracticable; (2) questions of law or faotist that are common to the class; (3)
claims or defenses of the representative padie typical of the claims or defense
the class; and (4) the representative partudl fairly and adequately protect t
interests of the classUnited Steel, Paper & ForestryRubber, Mfg. Energy, Allig

Indus. & Serv. Workers Int’'l Unigrb93 F.3d at 806 (citing Fe®. Civ. P. 23(a)).

These requirements are commonly referred to as numerosity, commonality, tyf

and adequacySee, e.g., id.; Hanlon v. Chrysler Cqrp50 F.3d 1011, 1019 (9th Gi
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1998). A plaintiff must also establish at least one of the requirements outlined
23(b), including: (1) that there is a risksfbstantial prejudickom separate action
(2) that declaratory or injunctive religenefitting the class as a whole would

appropriate; or (3) that common questiondas¥ or fact predominate and the cl

action is superior to other alable methods of adjudicationd. at 806-07 (citing Fedl.

R. Civ. P. 23(b)). The reg@ment set forth in Rule 23(8) is generally referred
as “predominance.’ld. at 807.

In analyzing whether a plaintiff has nies or her burden to satisfy the Rule
requirements, it “may be necessary fa tdourt to probe behind the pleadinggval-
Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2551 (quotir@en. Tel. Co. of Sw. v. Falco#57 U.S. 147, 14

(1982)). Class certification “is proper onify ‘the trial court is satisfied, after

n Rul
S,
be

ASS

|-

[0

23

0

a

rigorous analysis, that the prerequisites”Rafle 23(a) and (b) have been satisfied.

Id. (quotingFalcon 457 U.S. at 161)ee alsocComcast Corp 133 S. Ct. at 143
(applying same analytical pringes to Rule 23(a) and (bYinser, 253 F.3d at 118

“Such an analysis will frequently entail ‘avap with the merits of the plaintiff

underlying claim.” Comcast Corp 133 S. Ct. at 1432 (quotivgal-Mart, 131 S. Ct.

at 2551). However, “Rule 23 grants courtdioense to engage in free-ranging me
inquiries at the certification stageAmgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans & Trust Ful
133 S. Ct. 1184, 1194-95 (2013). Accordinghny merits consideration must
limited to those issues necessary to deciding class certificattme id at 1195
(“Merits questions may be considered te #@xtent—but only to the extent—that tf
are relevant to determining whether thdeR23 prerequisites for class certificat
are satisfied.”).

A district court is granted “broad distien” to determine wather the Rule 2

2

O

S

rits
nds
be

ey

on

3

requirements have been meZinser, 253 F.3d at 1186see also Bateman v. Am.

Multi-Cinema, Inc.623 F.3d 708, 712 (9th Cir. 2010kt re Mego Fin. Corp. Se
Litig., 213 F.3d 454, 461 (9th Cir. 2000) (“Thetdict court’s decision certifying t

class is subject to a very limited rew and will be reveexdd only upon a stror
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showing that the district court’s decisionsva clear abuse of discretion.”) (internal

guotations omitted).
V. DISCUSSION
Plaintiffs propose the following class definition:

All persons who purchased or wdrgted as the named insured on a
home protection contract issued bgfendant First American Home

Buyers Protection Corporation froltarch 6, 2003 to the present (the
“Class”)®

(Mot. at p. 2.) Plaintiffs primarily seaertification under Rul23(b)(3) for monetar,

relief, including damages. (Mot. at p. 16,8.) However, becese they also seek

class-wide injunction to end DefendanéBeged unlawful practices, they conte

Rule 23(b)(2) certification is also appropriatéd.)
Plaintiffs seek certification of the da for the following claims: (1) intention
misrepresentation; (2) negligent misregmetation; (3) fraud by concealment;
promissory fraud; (5) UCL violationand (6) false advertising. Id( at pp. 2-3.
Defendant opposes on the grounds: (1) Pishttlaims are atypical; (2) individu
issues of law and fact predominate; angtf® proposed class is not ascertaina
(Opp. at pp. 19-40.)
For the reasons set forth below, the @dunds Plaintiffs have failed to me
the predominance and superiority requieents of Rule 23(b)(3), and failed
establish that a class action is appropustger Rule 23(b)(2). Bause Plaintiffs fa
to meet the requirements of Rule 23(b), @wurt finds it unnecessary to addressg
requirements of Rule 23(a).
A. Predominance
Rule 23(b)(3) requires the court to firfthat the questions of law or f3

common to class members predominate avsr questions affecting only individu

al

(4)

~—

Al
Able.

et

to

the

ICt

al

6 Plaintiffs seek to certify a nationvadtlass. However, if the Court finds

application of California law to a nationwid&ass to be inappropriate, Plaintiffs s
to certify a California class. (Mot. at p. 2, n. 2.)
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members.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3YThe predominance inquiry focuses on °
relationship between the common and ingdiial issues’ and ‘tests whether propg
classes are sufficiently cohesive torvaat adjudication by representation.Vinole
v. Countrywide Home Loans, In&71 F.3d 935, 944 (9th Cir. 2009) (quottignlon,
150 F.3d at 1022). As the Ninth Circuit has stated:

Rule 23(b)(3)’s predominance and stpety requirements were added

to cover cases in which a class@e would achieve economies of time,
effort, and expense, and promote .. uniformity of decision as to
persons similarly situated, without sacrificing procedural fairness or
bringing about other undesirablesudts. Accordingly, a central
concern of the Rule 23(b)(3) predomnte test is whether adjudication
of common issues will helpchieve judicial economy.

Id. at 944 (internal quotatiomarks and citations omitted).
“When common questions present a signifiaspect of the case and they

be resolved for all members of the classa single adjudication, there is clg

justification for handling the dispute on a repentative rather than on an indivic1ual

basis.” Hanlon 150 F.3d at 1022 (citation omitted). dontrast, when “claims requ

a fact-intensive, individual analysis,” thelass certification will “burden the cou

and be inappropriaté/inole 571 F.3d at 94&ee also Zinse253 F.3d at 1189 (“[IL

the main issues in a case require the is#paadjudication of each class memb
individual claim or defensea Rule 23(b)(3) action euld be inappropriate[.]

(citation omitted). Though there is sulvgtal overlap betwae Rule 23(a)(2)’

the

sed

can

par

re
-t”

rs

N

UJ

commonality and Rule 23(b)(8 predominance tests, the latter is a “far more

demanding” standard/Volin v. Jaguar Land Rover N. Am., LI&17 F.3d 1168, 117
(9th Cir. 2010) (quotingAmchem Prods., Inc. v. Winds&21 U.S. 591, 623-2

(1997)). To determine vether questions of law or fact common to the ¢

predominate, the court mustadyze each claim separatelfderger v. Home Depot
USA, Inc, 741 F.3d 1061, 1068 (9tbir. 2014) (citingErica P. John Fund, Inc. v.

Halliburton Co, 563 U.S. 804, 131 S. Ct. 2179, 2184 (2011)).
I
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1. Nationwide Class

The Court first examines whether emon issues of law predominate

as

Plaintiffs are attempting tapply California law to a nationwide class. It is well-

established that where, agéea federal court sits inwdirsity jurisdiction, the cout

“‘must look to the forum state’s choice l@w rules to determine the controlli
substantive law."Mazza 666 F.3d at 589 (quotirgjnser, 253 F.3d at 1187¥ee alst
Bruno v. Eckhart Corp 280 F.R.D. 540, 545, 4.(C.D. Cal. 2012).

“Under California’s choice of law ruleghe class action proponent bears

initial burden to show that Californidas ‘significant contact or significg

aggregation of contacts’ to thewohs of each @lss member.ld. (quotingWash. Mut.

Bank v. Super. Gt24 Cal. 4th 906, 921 (2001pee also Bruno v. Quten Reseg
Inst., LLG 280 F.R.D. 524, 538-39 (C.D. Cal. 2011) (stating this requirement e

ng

A=)

the

nt

Irch

nsure.

that the certification of a nationwide classder the laws of a single state compports

with due process). “Once the class acpooponent makes this showing, the bur
shifts to the other side to demonstrateattforeign law, rather than California lIg
should apply to class claims.’Id. at 590 (quotingVash. Mut. Bank24 Cal. 4th &
921). “California law may only be used on asgdwide basis if ‘the interests of ot
states are not found to outweigh Californiaterest in having itéaw applied.” Id.
(quotingWash. Mut. Bank24 Cal. 4th at 921)).

To determine whether the interests of other states outweigh Califg

interest, the court looks to a three-step governmental interest test:

First, the court determines whethte relevant law of each of
the potentially affected jurisdictiomgith regard to the particular
issue in question is the same or different.

Second, if there is a diffemee, the court examines each
jurisdiction’s interest in the gtication of its own law under the
circumstances of the particulease to determine whether a true
conflict exists.

Third, if the court finds that theris a true conflict, it carefully
evaluates and compares the natumd strength of the interest of
each jurisdiction in the applitan of its own law to determine

—-31- 13cv1585
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which state’s interest would be meompaired if its policy were
subordinated to the policy of tlether state, and then ultimately
applies the law of the statehase interest would be more
impaired if its law were not applied.

Id. (quotingMcCann v. Foster Wheeler LL1.@8 Cal. 4th 68, 81-82 (2010)).

The Court finds, and Defendadhbes not dispute, thatdthtiffs meet their initig
burden of showing that California hascanstitutionally sufficient aggregation
contacts to the claims of each putative class member because First Am
headquarters are in California, it maintainkast one of its call centers in Califorr]
its sales and marketing personnel who assisteating the renewéetters are locatg
in California, the renewal letters are sémtCalifornia, approximately a third of
premiums were written in Catifnia at times during theads period, ahseveral g
its executives are located in Californicbee Mazza666 F.3d at 590. Becal
Plaintiffs meet their burden, Defendant madeinonstrate that foreign law, rather t
California law, should apply to class clainfSee id

Defendant submits a chart showirthe material differences betwe
California’s consumer protection statutes and the consumer protection statute
other forty-nine states.SeeShophet Decl. at § 44, Exh. NN.) In this case, durin
class period, First American sold plans watlrariety of configurations in more th
40 states. eeHand Decl. at  7.) kder a conflict of lawsnalysis, “[a] probler

only arises if differences inae law are material, that ifthey make a difference

this litigation.” Mazza 666 F.3d at 590 (citing/ash. Mut. Bank24 Cal. 4th at 919).

In Mazza the Ninth Circuit examined the consenprotection statutes of 44 stg
and concluded that the appatrelifferences between tls¢ates’ consumer protecti
statutes were “not trivial or lwlly immaterial differences.” Id. at 591 (citing
differences in scienter requiremgntbetween Colorado, New Jersey,
Pennsylvania; and reliance requiremeh&tween Florida, New Jersey and N
York). These same differencage material in this case.

I
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In examining the interests of fogm jurisdictions, the Ninth Circuit h
concluded that each state has an intaregl) “balancing the range of products :
prices offered to consumers with the legeotections afforded to them;” and
“being able to assure indiduals and commercial entities spéng within its territory
that applicable limitations on liability sdorth in the jurisdiction’s law will b
available to those individuals and businesséie event they are faced with litigat
in the future.” 1d. at 592-93 (quotindyicCann 48 Cal. 4th at 97-98).

Lastly, in analyzing which state’s interest is most impaired, the Ninth C
held that it is determinative where thast event necessary to make the actor |
occurred.” See id at 593-94. In a fraud case, “the place of the wrong was the
where the misrepresentationsre communicated to the plaintiffs, not the state w
the intention to misrepresent was formeavbere the misrepresented acts took plg
Id. (citing Zinn v. Ex-Cell-O Corp 148 Cal. App. 2d 56, 80, n. 6 (1957)).

In Mazza the plaintiffs brought a <& action alleging that Hon
misrepresented and concealed materialrmédion in connectiomwith the marketing
and sale of certain Acura vehicles, altegiolations of the UCL, FAL, Consum
Legal Remedies Act, CaCiv. Code § 1750et. seqg and unjust enrichmentd. at
587. Plaintiffs sought to certify a natiwide class of consusns who were expos
to the misrepresentations through television commercials, besgharstore kiosk

and the car’'s owner’'s manudd. at 586-87. In determining the “place of the wrol

AS
and
2)

<

D

on

ircuit
able
2 State
here

1ICE.

da

)
er

the Ninth Circuit found that “the last evemtscessary for liability as to the foreign

class members — communication of the atlsements to the claimants and tf
reliance thereon in purchag vehicles — took place in the various states, n
California.” 1d. at 594. Accordingly, the Coutteld that each class membe
consumer protection claim should be goverbgthe consumer protection laws of
jurisdiction in which the transaction took pladel.

Here, with respect toevery real estate purchase, which account

approximately 50% of the transactions, @murt finds the “place of the wrong” w
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the state of purchase. For renewalsjcWwhaccount for approximately 46% of |

transactions, although the advertising wasated in California, and one of the ¢

centers was located in Califoa, the misrepresentatiomgre communicated to t
putative class members in their redpec home states, and therefore th
jurisdictions have a stronger interest in dpplication of their laws. Accordingly, t
Court finds that each class member’'slUghd FAL claim show be governed by tf
consumer protection laws of the jurisdactiin which the transaction took place,
certification of these claims onmationwide basis should be denfed.

Plaintiffs request that the Court certifyCalifornia class, in the alternative
the Court elects not to certify a nationwidessla (ECF No. 129 (“Reply”) at p. 2
The Ninth Circuit did not foreclose that possibilityNtazza See Mazza66 F.3d g
594. However, for the reasons set forttoiae the Court does not find it appropri
to grant that request. The Court now turntheelements of each claim and exam
whether common questions predominate.

2. Fraud Claims

The elements of fraud under Californigvlare: (1) a misrepresentation, whij
includes a false representation, conceali@nhondisclosure; (2) knowledge of|i
falsity; (3) intent to defraud,e., to induce reliance; (4) stifiable reliance; and (5
resulting damage.See Lazar v. Super. Clil2 Cal. 4th 631, 638 (1996Agosta v|
Astor, 120 Cal. App. 4th 596, 603 (2004adlo v. Owens-lIIl., In¢ 125 Cal. App.

4th 513, 519 (2004). The elements coisipg a cause of action for negligy
misrepresentation are the same, except tiser® requirement of intent to indd
reliance. See Cadlp125 Cal. App. 4th at 519.

To establish fraud through nondisclosreconcealment of facts, a plainti

similarly must prove: (1) thdefendant concealent suppressed a material fact;

! Although Defendant gues a nationwide class is inappropriate
respect to all of its claims, it has failednb@et its burden with respect to its remail
claims.
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the defendant was under a duty to disclosdabeto the plaintiff; (3) the defendg
intentionally concealed or sum®sed the fact with the imteto defraud the plaintif
(4) the plaintiff was unaware of the fact amduld not have acted &% did if he ha
known of the concealed or suppressed faut; @) as a result of the concealmen

suppression of the fact, the plaintiff sustained dam&ge Blickman Turkus, LP

MF Downtown Sunnyvale, LLA62 Cal. App. 4th 858, 868 (2008ke also Davis V.

HSBC Bank Nev., N.A691 F.3d 1152, 1163 (9th Cir. 201Z)CM Principal
Opportunities Fund v. CIBC World Mkts. Cora57 Cal. App. 4th 835, 845 (200

A legal duty to disclose facts arises iuf@ircumstances: (1) when the defenda

nt

—

tor

~

7).

Nt is

in a fiduciary relationship with the plaiff; (2) when the defendant had exclusive

knowledge of material facts not known to fHaintiff; (3) whenthe defendant active
conceals a material fact from the plaintdfyd (4) when the diendant makes parti
representations but also suggses some material faddaggett v. Hewlett-Packa
Co,, 582 F. Supp. 2d 1261, 1267-68 (C.D. Cal. 2007) (cltiMandri v. Judkins52
Cal. App. 4th 326 (1997)).

As relevant here, California Insu@ Code section 332 imposes a dut
disclose.Pastoria v. Nationwide Ins112 Cal. App. 4th 1490 (2003). California |

also recognizes an insurer’s “special tielaship” with an insted, under which a

insurer has the duty reasonably to informresured of her rightander an insuran¢

policy. See Vu v. Prudenti&rop. & Cas. Ins. Cg 26 Cal. 4th 1142, 1149-51 (200
Davis v. Blue Cross of N. CaR5 Cal. 3d 418, 426-27 (1979).

“Promissory fraud’ is a subspecies of the action for fraud and deceijt.

promise to do something necessarily imptlesintention to perform; hence, wher,
promise is made without such intention, there is an implied misrepresentation
that may be actionable fraudl’azar, 12 Cal. 4th at 63&ee alscAgosta 120 Cal
App. 4th at 603. “[lJntent not to peniim cannot be proved simply by showin

8 SeeDiaz Action, at ECF No. 163 {Nth Circuit Opinion) at 18.
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subsequent failure to performtUMG Recordings, Inc. \Global Eagle Entm’t, Ing
--- F. Supp. 3d ----, 2015 WL 4606077, at *10 (C.D. Cal. June 22, 2015). “An
for promissory fraud may lie where a dedant fraudulently induces the plaintiff
enter into a contract.Lazar, 12 Cal. 4th at 638.

“Actual reliance occurs when the fdadant’s misrepresentation is
immediate cause of the plaintiff's conduetltering his legafelations, and whe
absent such representation, the plaintibiNgd not, in all reasonable probability, h:

entered into the transaction.Cadlo, 125 Cal. App. 4th at 519. In order to pr

reliance on an omission, “[o]meeed only prove that, hadcetbmitted information bee

disclosed one would have been asvaf it and behawk differently.” Mirkin v.
Wasserman5 Cal. 4th 1082, 1093 (1993).

Defendant argues individual issueslafv and fact will predominate as
Plaintiffs’ fraud claims because no inferencer@fance arises &@se the entire clas
and Plaintiffs have failed to provide a vialleamages model. (Opat pp. 39, n. 3¢
40.) To demonstrate that the elementadfance is a common gsion that can b

resolved for all members of the Class isilagle adjudication, Plaintiffs rely on t

following statement of the law set forth\asquez v. Super. C# Cal. 3d 800 (1971):

The rule in this state and elsewheséhat it is not necessary to show
reliance upon false representations disect evidence. The fact of
reliance upon alleged false reprasdions may be inferred from the
circumstances attending the transactivhich oftentimes afford much
stronger and more satisfactory eviderf the inducement . . . than his
direct testimony to the same effect. [l]f the trial court finds material
misrepresentations were made ttee class members, at least an
inference of relianewould arise as to the emticlass. Defendants may,
of course, introduce evidence in rebuttal.

Id. at 814 (internal quotations omittedxcord Occidental Land, Inc. v. Super. Cit.

Orange Cnty, 18 Cal. 3d 355, 363 (1976). The Sampe Court of California clarifie
this statement iMirkin, stating that “[w]hat we did hold [iWasqueandOccidenta)

was that, when the same material misregentations have actually be
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communicated to each member of a classinference of reliance arises as to
entire class.”Mirkin, 5 Cal. 4th at 1095 (emphasis in original). Therefore, “al
evidence of uniform material misrepreseiaias having been actually made to c
members,” an inference of reliance does not ariSee Knapp v. AT&T Wirele
Servs., Ing 195 Cal. App. 4th 932, 946 (2011) (quotikadenbach v. Mut. of Oma
Life Ins. Co, 178 Cal. App. 4th 830, 851 (2009)).

the
psent
ass
SS

na

Here, there is no evidence of common esentations or omissions having been

made to putative class memberPlaintiffs and Defendant agree that First Ame,
markets and advertises its plans througbkdlprimary channels: (1) real estate s;
(2) renewals; and (3) starting in 2007, directonsumer (via telephone and onlii
(Mot. at pp. 3-7; Opp. at 9, Hand Decl. at § 5; Craney €leat { 4; Miles Decl. at
3.) The primary forms of marketing communication include “flyers, postc
brochures, direct mail, emadpcial media, and websites(Hand Decl. at 1 9.) T}
parties further agree that First Ameridamme warranty plans can be obtained (]

connection with the purchase of a residémtiaperty; (2) separately by ordering o

ican
hles;
ne).
)l
ards,
e

) in

ver

the phone or through First American’s wigdsor (3) by renewing a prior contract.

(Mot. at pp. 3-7; Miles Decl. at { 3.)

In the real estate channel, Plaintdigue First American provides free, writ
marketing materials to real estate agemtsich are standardized and approved
“‘company-wide distribution” in all states. (W at pp. 3-4.) Plaintiffs further conte

First American uses a standardized, writtenp$da train real estate agents on hoy

[en
for
nd

v to

sell its home warranty plans, which indes an instruction to hand out a written

brochure which is “almost identical” faall states and a sample home warri
contract. [d. at pp. 4-5.) Plaintiffs assertetbe brochures and contracts contair
alleged misrepresentations.ld.(at at p. 5.) In the direct to consumer char

Plaintiffs argue First American makes itssm@presentations both through its web

ANty
the
inel,

Site,

“which contains standardized written representations concerning the benefits an

attributes of its home warranty plans,” amtious print and media advertiseme
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(Id. at pp. 5-6.) Lastly, in threnewal channeRlaintiffs argue First American sends

several “standard form rewal letters” to its customers which contain the allgged

false and misleading representationisl. &t p. 6.) Based on this evidence, Plain
argue First American engaged in a “uniform advertising campaign” to sell its

(Id. at p. 7.) For the reasonsdussed below, the Court disagrees.

tiffs

plans

In the real estate channel, whielscounts for approximately 50% of First

American home warranty plans sold beém 2004 and 2013, First American emp
approximately 100 area managernso interact with localeal estate agents. (Ha
Decl. at 11 10, 32.) Hreal estate agts, in turn, interactirectly with home buyel

and sellers; although a buyersaller does not necessarilyeus real estate agent w

oys
nd
S
ho

interacted with an area managedd. at 11 10, 11.) Contrary to Plaintiffs’ contention,

Defendant represents that First Americaea managers amggven discretion if

N

determining how they want to marketetiplans, which may include giving a live

presentation at a real estate office ad& event, speaking or corresponding with a

real estate agent, or distributing wnittenarketing materials prepared by H
American’s sales and markeg department, which are alahle for the area manag
to order. [d. at 17 12, 13.) Although First Ameait has at various times promote
script to area managers, which includesghggestion to hand out its brochures
samples contracts First American maintains thats area managers are gi\
complete discretion and @toes not impose any requirements or monitor how
managers choose &alvertise. Ifl. at 11 19-21, 24, 27.) Meover, the area manag
may be another step removed from the ultimate purchaser of the plan — the |
seller of the home. Determining what repentations were made between the

managers and the real estate agents, adbatween the realtate agents and t

9 During the class period, fronpproximately March 2003 to June 20

irst
er
da
and
ren
area
ors
puyer
area

ne

11,

First American issued approximately 1,3@ferent versions of its contract, which

varied from state-to-state and year-to-yaad contained differemypes of coverag
(Miles Decl. at 1 8, Exhs. C, D.)
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purchasers will therefore require a highly individualized inquiry.

In the renewal channel, which aemts for 46% of First American hor
warranty plans sold beten 2004 and 2013, the renéwarrespondence vari
depending on the plan holdegayment method, and varigdcontent throughout tf
class period. (Craney Decl. ¥4 8, 9, 11-20; Craney Depat. 84:1-9.) Some of tf

cover letters and buck s#ip contained the allegedly false or misleac

representations, while others did not. (CyaDecl. at 11 8, 9, 14-15, 17-18, 20, Ex

A- G; see alsdBottini Decl. at Exh. 9.) During éhclass period, First American ug
approximately 106 different inserts, wilach correspondence containing anyw

from one to three of these inserts. (Crabecl. at § 16.) For a variety of reasc

ne

D
o

e

e
ling
hs.
sed
here

ns,

approximately 7% to 10% of plan holdersver receive angenewal correspondence

from First American. Ifl. at 7 6.)
In addition to renewal coespondence, First American also utilizes a “in

sales” staff to call customers whose plaresatyout to expire. (@ney Decl. at | 2!

Craney Depo. at 74:5-16.) The sales ggfiot provided with any uniform writte

script or guidelines, but instead are givdiscretion and rely on their judgment

attempting to convince the plan holder to ren€Craney Decl. at  22.) Therefc

determining what representations eachapwe class member received or were

exposed to prior to renewal, if anythirend what conversatns were had betwe
sales agents and customers will regu highly individualized inquiry.

Lastly, in the direct to consumer chahmvehich accounts for only 4% of Fif
American home warranty @hs sold between 2004 and 20pGtative class membe
received limited scale direct mailings, telephone calls from First American ba
leads generated by third-pantendors, and plans purchdsedirectly through Firg
American’s website. (Hand Decl. at 1 32; Bottini Decl. at Ehs. 44, 45.) Agair
determining which representations each putative class member received
exposed to, if anything, will require a highly individualized inquiry.

In light of the foregoing, the Court find3laintiffs have failed to demonstr;
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through evidentiary proof that the sametenal representations or omissions were

made to each putative claseember. There are signifidaimdividual issues as

whether the putative class mbers were even exposed touch less relied on, t

[0

alleged misrepresentations. dsedingly, an inference atliance does not arise as to

all class members and cannot beoteed on a class-wide basiSee Kaldenbagii78
Cal. App. 4th at 85Knapp 195 Cal. App. 4th at 946.

Although Plaintiffs’ experiences are ndeterminative, it is instructive th
among Plaintiffs, all of them initially obtag¢d a First American home warranty
in connection with the purchase of a home, midt, if not all, of the plaintiffs utilize
real estate agents. Prior to purchasimg/ar receiving a First American plan, not
of the plaintiffs were exposed &myrepresentations about First American, much
the alleged misrepresentationine other plaintiffs receed different representatio
from their respective real estaagents about First Amesic’'s home warranty plar
Not all of these representations included #tleged misrepresentations. Two of
five Plaintiffs renewed their plans,naé each testified theyelied on different
representations from different sources. amg not all of these representati
included the alleged misrepresentations. Accordingly, the Court finds Plaintiff
failed to establish predominance withspect to Plaintiffs’ fraud claims.

In addition, “actual reliance, or caugatj is inferred from the misrepresentat

of amaterialfact.” Chapman v. Skype, In@20 Cal. App. 4tR17, 229 (2013) (citing

In re Tobacco Il Casest6 Cal. 4th 298, 327 (2009jemphasis added¥ee alsq
Stearns v. Ticketmaster Corg55 F.3d 1013, 1022 (9th Cir. 2011), abrogate

other grounds by¥omcast Corp.133 S. Ct. 1426 (2013). “Aisrepresentation |i

judged to be ‘material’ if ‘a reasonable maould attach importance to its existe

or nonexistence in determining his choiceaofion in the transaction in question.

In re Tobacco Il Casegl6 Cal. 4th 298, 327 (2009).
Here, the proposed Class contains thoagegories of individuals: (1) selle

(2) real estate agents; and (3) buyers/ownBtaintiffs have not demonstrated it (¢
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establish materiality on a class-wide basis as to these three categories of ind

Based on the evidence submitted by Plaintdéstain real estate agents purchase

home warranty plans as “gifts” for theilients, and others picked First Ameri¢

because prior clients had a good expedgewith them. Plaintiffs submitted
evidence with respect to sellers, but iinglausible that buyers and sellers wa
necessarily attach the same importancealieged misrepresentations in F
American’s advertising? Plaintiffs argue that materiality can be demonstrated
class-wide basis without distinguishingetween the disparate categories
individuals in their proposed Class, wiace not similarly situated. In the clg
context, “[i]f the misrepresentation or omissiis not material ae all class member
the issue of reliance ‘would vary from camser to consumer’ and the class she
not be certified.” Stearns 655 F.3d at 1022-23 (citinig re Vioxx Class Case480
Cal. App. 4th 116 (2010))For this reason as well,glCourt finds Plaintiffs hay
failed to establish predominance withspect to the fraud causes of action.
3. UCL & FAL (ProposedCalifornia Class)

The UCL prohibits, and provides civilmeadies for, unfair competition, whi

it defines as “any unlawful, unfair or frdulent business act or practice and un
deceptive, untrue or misleading advertisingKWikset Corp, 51 Cal. 4th 310, 32
(2011) (quoting Cal. Bus. & Prof. Codelg200). “Because the statute is writte

the disjunctive, it is violated where a defiant’s act or practice is (1) unlawful,

unfair, (3) fraudulent, or (4) in violation of section 17500¢", the FAL. Lozano v|

AT&T Wireless Servs., IncG04 F.3d 718, 731 (9th Cir. 2007). The FAL “make
unlawful for any person to ‘induce the pultiecenter into any obligation’ based o
statement that is ‘untrue or misleadingdavhich is known, or which by the exerc

of reasonable care should be knotenbe untrue or misleading.’Davis, 691 F.3d 3

10 Notably, in the reatstate channel, which mprises approximately 50
of all sales, the plans are more often purchased by the home seller or real este
(SeeHand Decl. at 1 25.)
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1161 (quoting Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17508ach prong of the UCL is a “separ
and distinct theory of liability.”Lozang 504 F.3d at 731.

Under the FAL, whether an advertiserhen“misleading” must be judged
the effect it would have on a “reasonabbmsumer,” who is the “ordinary custon
acting reasonably under the circumstance®avis, 691 F.3d at 1161-62 (citir
Williams v. Gerber Prods. Co552 F.3d 934, 938 (9th Cir. 2008}olgan v

Leatherman Tool Grp., Inc135 Cal. App. 4th 663 (200@)avie v. Procter & Gamble

Co., 105 Cal. App. 4th 496 (2003)). To préuander this standard, a plaintiff mg
show that members of the public are k&b be deceived by the advertisemeldt.
at 1162 (citingwilliams, 552 F.3d at 938kee alsdn re Tobacco Il Case#l6 Cal
4th at 312. This standard encompasses 6nbt advertising which is false, but a
advertising which[,] althougtirue, is either actually misleading or which ha
capacity, likelihood or tendency teceive or confuse the public.ld. (quoting
Williams, 552 F.3d at 938). In determining wheathestatement is misleading, a cq

looks primarily to the words of the staterhéself, and compares those words to

actual facts.Viggiano v. Hansen Natural Cor@44 F. Supp. 2877, 885-86 (C.D.

Cal. 2013) (citingColgan 135 Cal. App. 4th at 679). Statements that amountto

puffery,” however, are not actionablegedause no reasonable consumer relig

puffery. See Williams552 F.3d at 939, n. &ook, Perkiss and Lieh&c. v. N. Cal|
Collection Serv., In¢ 911 F.2d 242, 246 (9th Cir. 199(pramson v. Marrioft

Ownership Resorts, Inc-- F. Supp. 3d ----, 2016 WL 105889, at *7 (C.D. Cal.
4, 2016).

To be “unlawful” under the UCL, thadvertisements must violate anot
“borrowed” law. Davis 691 F.3d at 1168 (citinGel-Tech Commc’ndnc. v. L.A
Cellular Tel. Co, 20 Cal. 4th 163, 180 (1999)). A business practice is “fraudd
under the UCL if members of the pigbare likely to be deceivedld. at 1169;se€¢
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alsoln re Tobacco Il Casest6 Cal. 4th at 312 As with the FAL, the challengée
conduct is judged by its effech the “reasonable consumebDavis, 691 F.3d at 1169.

Any violation of the FAL necessarily violates the UCWilliams 552 F.3d at 93
(citing Kasky v. Nike, In¢ 27 Cal. 4th 939, 950-51 (2002)).

The UCL does not define the term “umfaithus “the proper definition (¢
‘unfair’ conduct against consumers ‘is cuttgrin flux’ among California courts,
Davis 691 F.3d at 1169 (citingozang 504 F.3d at 735). For suits brought

consumers, courts have applied ertthe balancing test set forth$n Bay Chevrole

O 14
o

8

pf

by
pt

v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Car@2 Cal. App. 4th 861 (1999), the test set forth in

Cel-Techor the three-pronged test $arth in the FTC Act.d. at 1169-70. Howeve
the Ninth Circuit has declined to apply the FTC standard to consumer actions
absence of a clear holding from the Galfia Supreme Court” that it should
applied. Lozang 504 F.3d at 736.

Under the balancing testurifair” conduct occurs whethat practice “offend
an established public policy or when {hwctice is immoral, unethical, oppress

unscrupulous or substantialigjurious to consumers.”ld. at 1169 (citingS. Bay

r,
“Iin th
be

S

ve,

/

Chevrolet 72 Cal. App. 4th at 886-87). “Undengrapproach, courts must examine

the practice’s impact on its alleged victim|dreced against th@asons, justificatior

and motives of the alleged wrongdoer. lorshthis balancingest must weigh th

utility of the defendant’s conduct against the graef the harm to the alleged victim).

S

e

11 The fraudulent business prong of the UCL is distinct from common law

fraud, both in its elements and its remedi&s.re Tobacco Il Casest6 Cal. 4th g
312. *“Unlike common-law fraud claims &h focus on the victim’'s reliance
damages, the UCL focuses on the perpetrator’'s behavior: ‘to state a claim ur
UCL or the [FAL] . .. it is necessary only to shavat members of the public
likely to be deceived.”Berger, 741 F.3d at 1068 (citinip re Tobacco |l Casegl6

't
or
nder t|
\re

Cal. 4th at 312). “Actual falsehood, tlperpetrator’'s knowledge of falsity, and

perhaps most importantly, the victim’s relee on the false statements — each of w
are elements of common-law fraud claimare not required to show a violation
California’s UCL.” Id. (citing In re Tobacco Il Case#6 Cal. 4th at 312).
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Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted). UnderGleé Techtest, which wa

expressly limited irfCel-Techo actions by competitors, but has been applied by ¢

S

ourts

to consumer actions, an “unfair” practiceeans “conduct that threatens an incipient

violation of an antitrust law, or violates the policy or spirit of one of those

because its effects are compardbler the same as a vitilan of the law, or otherwis

significantly threatens or harms competitiond. at 1169-70 (citingCel-Tech, 20
Cal. 4th at 187 & n. 12).

Under both the UCL and FAL, damagesimat be recovered; rather, plainti
are limited to injunctive relief and restitutiokeeCal. Bus. & ProfCode 88 1720
17535;Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Cqrp9 Cal. 4th 1134, 1144 (200
In re Tobacco Il Cased6 Cal. 4th at 31Zhern v. Bank of Am15 Cal. 3d 866, 87
(1976);Viggiang 944 F. Supp. 2d at 886plgan 135 Cal. App. 4th at 695. Ung

the UCL, “the primary form of relief avable . . . to protect consumers from un

business practices is an injunction, along véaticillary relief in the form of suc¢

restitution ‘as may be necessary to restor@any person in intest any money (
property, real or personal, which maywhaeen acquired by means of such ui
competition.” In re Tobacco Il Caset6 Cal. 4th at 319 (citing Cal. Bus. & Pr
Code § 17203).
a. Fraudulent/False Advertising (FAL) Prongs
“[C]lass certification of UCL claims igsvailable only to those class meml
who were actually exposed to the business practices at isBaeeger, 741 F.3d g
1068 (citingStearns 655 F.3d at 1020-2IMMazza 666 F.3d at 595-96xee alsq
Campion v. Old Republic Home Protection Co.,.Ili&72 F.R.D. 517, 534 (201
(citing Pfizer, Inc. v. Super. Gt182 Cal. App. 4th 628531 (2010)) (“[O]ne who wg
not exposed to the allegedisrepresentation and therefore could not possibly
lost money or property as a result tife unfair competition is not entitled
restitution.”); Cohen v. DirecTY178 Cal. App. 4th 966, 980 (2010) (“[W]e do

understand the UCL to authogian award for injunctive kief and/or restitution on

—44 — 13cv1585
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behalf of a consumer wheas never exposed in any ywt an allegedly wrongfy
business practice.”) Common issues dopmetlominate where there is “no cohes
among the [class] members because they exgpesed to quite disparate informat
from various representagg of defendant.” Stearns 655 F.3d at 1020see alst
Cohen 178 Cal. App. 4th at 979 (affirming dahof class certification under the U(
where the evidence demonsg@that the class “wouldaiude subscribers who ney
saw DIRECTV advertisementsr representations of any kind before decidin
purchase the company’s HDrgees, and subscribers who only saw and/or rq
upon advertisements that contained nontio@ of technical terms regardi
bandwidth or pixels, and subscribereawpurchased DIRECTV HD primarily bag
on word of mouth or because they saw DOIRE/'’s HD in a store or at a friend’s
family member’'s home”).

For the same reasons discussed above oot finds Plaintiffs have failed
demonstrate that there was cohesion amdags members as to how they w
exposed — if they were even exposed at &lthe various alleged false and mislea
representations. As @ampion “the proposed class megts may have seen sof
all or none of [the allegethisrepresentations] prior to the purchase of their K

warranty plans due to the varying wawpswhich they acquired their plans.Se¢

p =

5ion
ion
)
CL
jer
y to
blied
ng
ed

or

—F

0
ere
ling
ne,

ome

)

Campion 272 F.R.D. at 536-37. Again, lattugh the named Plaintiffs experiences

are not determinative in the®ntext, their stories highliglite lack of cohesion amo

potential class members, as they were exposed to disparate information from i

g
D varie

of sources, and not all of them were eegposed to the alleged false and misleading

representations pnido purchase.
b. Unlawful Prong
Plaintiffs seek to certify a class umdbe unlawful prong ofhe UCL premise
on a violation of the FAL and a violatiari California Insurance Code section 127
and presumably the alleged fraud. (Mopati4.) Because PIldiffs have failed tc

establish that class certification is appraf#iwith respect to its FAL and fraud clair

—45 — 13cv1585
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the Court finds Plaintiffs have not m#teir Rule 23 burden with respect to
unlawful prong of the UCL.

In addition, the Court finds that tl@nsolidated Class Action Complaint d
not reference a violation of California Imamce Code section 12760. As Defen
points out, prior judges in this case similarly did not locate such a violation ir
versions of Plaintiffs’ complaint. SeeOpp. at pp. 19-20, 10 (citing ECF Nos. 7¢
87, 94, & 104).) Plaintiffs cite no authgripermitting them to seek certification g
claim not in the complaint, and do nospend to Defendant’s argument that t
should not be allowed to do so. Accordinghe Court declineto certify a clas
based on this claim.

C. Unfair Prong

In attempting to certify a class under the unfair prong of the UCL, Pla
simply argue that “[tlhe evidence refaped above can estah a UCL violatior
under the ‘unfair’ . . . prong[]."(Mot at p. 14.) The Coufinds that Plaintiffs hay
failed to meet their burden with resg to the unfair prong of the UCL.

B.  Superiority

“Plaintiffs must also demonstrate thatclass action issuperior to other
available methods for fairly and effasitly adjudicating the controversy.Otsuka vi
Polo Ralph Lauren Corp.251 F.R.D. 439, 448 (2008)ifjog Fed. R. Civ. R.

23(b)(3)). “Where classwallitigation of common issuesill reduce litigation cost
and promote greater efficiencgt class action may be sujpe to other methods ¢
litigation,” and it is superior “iho realistic alternative exists.Valentino v. Carter
Wallace, Inc. 97 F.3d 1227, 1234-35 (9th Cir. 1996). The following factor
pertinent to this analysis:

(A) the class members’ interesh individually controlling the
prosecution or defensd separate actions;

(B) the extent and nature of ahtygation concerning the controversy
already begun by or against class members;
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(C) the desirability or undesirabilityf concentrating the litigation of
the claims in the p#cular forum; and

(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).

Plaintiffs argue that “[e]ach of the p@ent Rule 23(b)(3) factors, along with

the overarching concern for judicial economy, supports class certification

n this

case.” (Mot. at p. 24.) Defendant does$ cmntest superiority under the superiofity

requirement. However, several of Dedant's arguments are relevant to
superiority analysis.

For the reasons set forth in the Cosifiscussion above of the propriety
certifying a nationwide class, the Court fintkat the Class, gsroposed, is not t
superior means of resolvinggtcase. In addin, the Court finds there will likely &
difficulties in managing this class actioDefendant address#ss concern under tf
ascertainability requirement, but it is moappropriately addssed in terms
manageability.

The manageability requirement “encorepas the whole range of pract

problems that may render the class action &rmappropriate for a particular su

the

of

cal

~—+

Eisenv. Carlisle & Jacquelit17 U.S. 156, 164 (1974). Among other considerations,

“[t]his ‘manageability’ requiremet includes consideration of the potential difficul
in notifying class members of the sudalculation of individual damages, §
distribution of damages.Six (6) Mexican Workers v. Ariz. Citrus Growed84 F.2¢
1301, 1304 (9th Cir. 1990) (citation omittedi). sum, “when the aoplexities of clas
action treatment outweigh thertsdits of considering common issues in one trial, ¢
action treatment is not the ‘superior’ method of adjudicatidmser, 253 F.3d 3
1192 (citations omitted). The Court hasveral significant qualms about
manageability of this case.

Plaintiffs’ proposed Class includes allrpens who purchased or were listeq

the named insured on a First American home protection contetMOt. at pp. 2
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16, n. 8.) There does nappear to be any disputeathFirst American maintair

1S

records for all persons listed as themea insured on a First American home

protection contract. Howerweas all parties acknowledgie person who is listed
the contract is not necessarily the purchaseéhe contract. Fathe plans purchast

through a real estate transaction, whicmpase approximately 50% of all plang

iIssue, it is apparent thdetermining who purchased tpan will be time-consuming

and difficult.

According to First Amerian, once escrow on a home purchase has closed
American receives payment for the homenamaty contract, typically a check dra
on the escrow account. (Miles Decl. at.y However, First American does |

receive a copy of the underlying real esfaiechase agreemermnd has no way ¢

knowing whether the buyer or seller agnldo pay for the premiumsld(at 1 4.) For

the named Plaintiffs in this case, in ardie determine who purchased the plan, |
American had to subpoena the escrow rexotddowever, the records do not alw
reflect who purchased the coentt. Accordingly, for a pentially large portion of th
proposed Class, there will be significarifidulties in notifying class members of {
suit, calculation of individual dangas, and distribution of damages.

Plaintiffs also assert that their ¢fe8 can be proven with common evide
Among Plaintiffs’ claims is that First American’s contractors routinely ¢
customers for non-covered portions of watyareplacements and upsell custon
for repair and replacements that are ootvered under the class members’ h
warranty plan, and that class memb@ay significant sums out of pocket
contractors above and beyond Defendant’s fees. (ConsobpliCat 1 64, 109.) A

both parties agree, however, Defendant chm¢snaintain its contractors’ records 4

N
ad

at

, Firs
VN
not
Df

First
Aay'S
e
he

\ce.
buge
ners
bme
to

\S

and

does not maintain records on how muchctstractors charge customers outside of

their covered plan. See id, see alsdMliles Il Depo. at 73:2-20, 77:3-10, 94:5-95:
106:10-11, 117:14-16; Horne Depat. 186:8-23, 187:2-6, 213:4-20; Bottini Decl
Exh. 50.) Although these records may dide to be obtaed from Defendant
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contractors, this presents a manageabibtycern. The Court aldtas concerns abqut

Defendants’ ability to prove that First Agmcan routinely denies claims for pre-

textual reasons and routinely denies claims with pre-existing conditions withou

dragging every contractor into Couft.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court finthst Plaintiffs have failed o

demonstrate that this class action is manageable and the superior method of fesolv

this case.
C. Certification Under Rule 23(b)(2)
Under Rule 23(b)(2), a class may betibed where “the party opposing t

class has acted or refusedattt on grounds that apply generally to the class, s¢ that

final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief is appropriate respecti
class as a whole.” Fed. Riv. P. 23(b)(2). “Classertification under Rule 23(b)(

Is appropriate only where the primary rélsought is declaratory or injunctive.

ng the
)

14

Zinser, 253 F.3d at 1195 (citingelsen v. King Cnty895 F.2d 1248, 1254-55 (%9th
Cir. 1990);0’Connor v. Boeing N. Am., Incl80 F.R.D. 359, 377 (C.D. Cal. 1997);
Haley v. Medtronicl169 F.R.D. 643, 657 (C.D. Cal. 1996A class seeking monetary

damages may be ceréifl pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) gnivhere such relief is “mere

ly

incidental to [the] primary claim for injunctive reliefProbe v. State Teachers’ Ret.

Sys, 780 F.2d 776, 780 (9th Cir. 1986&e alsiWal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2557 (holdif

that claims for monetary lief may not be certified unddrtule 23(b)(2) “where . .|.

the monetary relief is not adental to the injunctive or declaratory relie
Moreover, Rule 23(b)(2) “does not autlzer class certification when each cl
member would be entitled to an individizad award of monetary damages/al-
Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2557.

Although Plaintiffs’ claim they “primaly” seek certification under Ru

—

g

)

ASS

e

23(b)(3) for monetary relieincluding damages, “becaus@yhalso seek a class-wide

12 This concern also implicatéise predominance requirement.

—49 — 13cv1585




© 00 N o 0o A~ W N P

N NN NN N N NN P P P B P P PP PR
© N o O~ W N P O © N O 0o M W N P O

injunction to end Defendant’s unlawful gmtices,” they contend Rule 23(b)
certification is also approptiea  (Mot. at p. 16, n. B. “Because Rule 23(b)(
certification is inappropriate whereettprimary relief sought is monetary, . the
dispositive question is: What type of relidbes [the plaintiff] primarily seek
Zinser, 253 F.3d at 1195 (citingelsen 895 F.2d at 1254). Bprimary relief sougk
in this case is monetary, with each classmber entitled to an individualized aw
of monetary damages.SéeMot. at pp. 20-22 (Plaintiffs’ proposed calculation
damages)). Accordingly, the Court doex find Rule 23(b)(2) appropriate.

Moreover, “[u]nless the named plaiifisi are themselves entitled to s¢

injunctive relief, they may not repr@st a class seeking that relietHodgers—Durgir

v. de la Vina 199 F.3d 1037, 1045 (9@ir. 1999) (en banc).“Standing must be

shown with respect to each form of edlisought, whether it be injunctive reli
damages or civil penalties.Bates v. United Parcel Serv., In611 F.3d 974, 98
(9th Cir. 2007) (citing-riends of the Earth, Inc. v. lidlaw Envt'l Servs. (TOC), Ing
528 U.S. 167, 185 (2000)). Thact that the named Pldiffs previously purchase
First American plans and may bring a oldior damages therefore does not in it
grant them standing to seek injunctive reli&ee City of Los Angeles v. LypA&1
U.S. 95, 103 (1983) (stating that in a cldon injunctive relief,“past wrongs do nq
in themselves amount to that real and irdrate threat of injury necessary to m
out a case or controversy”)n order to establish stamdj to seek an injunction,
plaintiff must face an injury that iSactual or imminent, not conjectural
hypothetical.” Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlif®04 U.S. 555, 560 (1992) (citations §
internal quotation marks omitted). In othgords, “he or she must demonstrai
‘very significant possibili of future harm.” In re Static Random Access men]
(SRAM) Antitrust Litig 264 F.R.D. 603, 610 (N.D. Cal. 2009) (quotfagn Diegq
Cnty. Gun Rights Comm. v. Re®8 F.3d 1121, 1126 (9th Cir.1996)).

Here, the named Plaintiffs do not currently have First American ple®es
Miles Decl. at 1 14, 16, 19, 21, ShophetDat Exh. CC at 120-22.) Carrera’
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plan expired in February 2010, Morrisoasd Hershey’s final plans expired in M
2013, Jullien’s final plan expired in Octati#012, and Diaz testified she did not h
a plan as of January 2011Seg id) Although renewal iossible, there is 1
allegation or testimony suggesting that anyhef named Plaintiffs intend to purch
a First American plan in the future. ThusaiRtiffs have failed to establish that th
face an “actual or imminent” injury. Fdhis reason as well, the Court der
Plaintiffs’ request to certify a Rule 23(b)(2) class in the alternative.
V. MOTION TO STRIKE AND FOR SANCTIONS

Plaintiffs filed a motion to strikera for sanctions in connection with fg
reports Defendant attaches to its motionclass certification. (ECF No. 132 (“Stri
Mot.”).) Plaintiffs seek to exclude fmo evidence the four reports prepared
Defendant’s expert, W. John Irwin Il, besauDefendant withheld these reports
well as all corresponding n@@nd communications, from Plaintiffs during discoy
and did not supplement its discovery resgsngpon determining that Mr. Irvin w
going to be used as an expert. (Strike Mop. 1.) The report®late to inspectior
Mr. Irvin, a licensed Professional Mecheali Engineer, conducted on Plaintif
properties.

A. Background

With respect to this motion, the follomg facts do not appear to be dispute

o Defendant designated Mr. Irwin as arpert that it may use at tr

pursuant to Federal Rule of Cividlrocedure 26(a)(2)(A) in the Di
Action. (ECF No. 133 (“Strike Opp.’gt p. 3; Strike Mot. at p. 4.)

o Plaintiffs’ counsel deposed Mr. Irwin dily 5, 2011 in the Diaz Action.

(Strike Opp. at p. 3.)

o After Hershey, Jullien,rad Morrison joined Carrera as Plaintiffs in
Carrera Action, Mr. Irwin inspected tmgroperties. (Strike Opp. at {
5-6; Strike Mot. at p. 4.)

ay
ave
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o On November 21, 2013, Plaintiffserved a Request for Production
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(“RFP”) seeking all documents “coerning [First American’s] physic

inspection of Plaintiffs’ propert& including all reports, retain

agreements, and communications. (Strike Opp. at p. 6; Strike Mot. at p

4)

al

s

As of the date of the request, tGeurt had not yet issued a Scheduling

Order setting a deadline for designatixgerts. (Strike Opp. p. 6; EC
No. 92.)
Because Mr. Irwin was still acting axansultant in the Carrera Actic
First American timely objected todhRFP, asserting the attorney w
product doctrine, as codified in Rule BEB). (Strike Oppat p. 6; Strikg
Mot. at p. 5.)

Defendant produced Mr. Irwin’eandwritten notes and photogra
from his inspections of the propertie€Strike Mot. at p. 5, n. 7; Stril
Opp. at pp. 6-7; ECF No. 134Strike Reply”) at p. 3.)
The Scheduling Order in the Carréetion did not set the deadline f
designating experts until after classtiiation briefing was complete
(Strike Opp. at p. 7.) The ddack was March 20, 2015 for initi
designation. (ECF No. 92 at s&e alscECF No. 109 at 1 4.)
Defendant attached the four reportgsatie to its opposition to Plaintiff

motion for class certification. (Strike Mat p. 6; Strike Opp. at p. 7.

LF

N,

ork

U

bhs

<

or
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al
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The Irwin reports address the spessfiof each named Plaintiff's home

warranty claims. (Strike Mot. at 6; Strike Opp. at p. 8.)

After Defendant attached the repatsits opposition, Plaintiffs did n
seek to depose Mr. Irwin. (Strike Omgd.p. 8; Strike Reply at p. 9.)
In their reply brief in support of clagertification, Plaintiffs assert th
“Plaintiffs [home warranty] clams and this motion [for cla
certification] have nothing to doithkh whether First American prope

rejected [home warrantyl claims or atiportion of claims were approV
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of denied.” (Strike Opp. at 8, Reply at p. 1, lines 9-11.)

B. Legal Standard

Under Rule 26(b)(4), a party may employttypes of experts: (a) those exp
identified as “an expert whose opinions nisypresented at tijawhich the Cour
will refer to as a “testifyingexpert; and (b) experts “retained or specially emplo
.. In anticipation of litigation or to prepafer trial and who [arehot expected to [
called as a witness at trialvhich the Court will refer taas a “non-testifying” o
“consulting” experts. Fed. RCiv. P. 26(b)(4)(A), (D). A party must disclose tf

identity of a testifying expert “at the times and in the sequence that the court ¢

Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(A), (D If the testifying expert iSone retained or specially

employed to provide expert testimony in the case,” the disclosure must inc
report. Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(2)(B). n draft of such a report is protected fr

disclosure, as are certain communicatidiretween the party’s attorney and

Prts

Tt

ed.

e

N

-

e

rders

tlude
om
the

testifying expert. Fed. ECiv. P. 26(b)(4)(C). A partynay depose a testifying expert

only after the expert report is provideBed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4).

With respect to non-testifying or consugiiexperts, a partyay “discover fact
known or opinions held by” such an expertly “as provided in Rule 35(b)” or “d
showing exceptional circumstances under wliids impracticable for the party
obtain facts or opinions on the same sgbjby other means.” Fed. R. Civ.
26(b)(4)(D); see also Downs v. River City Grp., LLZ88 F.R.D. 507, 510-14 (
Nev. 2013)Estate of Manship v. United Stat@40 F.R.D. 229 (M.D. La. 2006).

S

N

D.

In

addition, “[w]hen experts serve as litigation consultants, the work-product privilege

generally applies to materials reviewedyenerated by them in that capacitys’E.C
V. ReyesNo. ¢ 06-04435 CRB, 2007 WL 963422, at *1 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (citing

R. Civ. P. 26(b)(3))see also Apple Inc. v. Amazon.com,,Iho. 11-1327 PIJH(JSC

2013 WL 1320760, at *1 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 1, 2013).
C. Discussion

Plaintiffs argue Defendant was requitedsupplement its response to the K
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after it determined it was using the Irwiaports in support of its opposition
Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification. Psuant to Rule 26(e){@A), “[a] party . . |
who has responded to [a] . . . request fadpction . . . mustupplement or corre
its . . . response . . . in a tilpenanner if the party learnsahin some material respg
the . . . response is incomplete or imeat, and if the adtional or correctivg
information has not otherwise been mddewn to the other parties during
discovery process or in writing.” Fed. Biv. P. 26(e)(1)(A). A party who fails tc
provide the information required by Rule 26(s)not allowed to use that informati
.. . to supply evidence on a tiam, at a hearing, or attaal, unless the failure wji
substantially justified or iharmless.” Fed. R. Civ. B7(c)(1). Instead of th
sanction, a court, on motioma after giving an opportunity to be heard, may o
the payment of reasonable expenses, inotpdttorney’s fees, caused by the fail

Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1)(A)The burden is on the party facing sanctions to provq

its violation was either substaaily justified or harmlessR&R Sails, Inc. v. Ins. Cp.

of Penn, 673 F.3d 1240, 1246 (9th Cir. 2012).
Specifically, Plaintiffs argue that Defenttavas obligated to timely supplem
in response to the RFP “[oladefendant decided to use .Niwin as an ‘expert’ i

addition to a ‘consultant.” (Strike Mot. at p.) Plaintiffs offer two theories as
when this occurred. First, &htiffs contend that Mr. Irwinvas retained as an exp
on November 29, 2012, when he wastfretained for the Carrera Actionld(at p
15.) Alternatively, Plaintiffs contenthat — “[e]Jven assumg Defendant initially
retained Mr. Irwin solely as ‘consultant™ in the Qaera Action —Defendant wa,
under the obligation to timely supplemets response to the RFP once Defen
decided to use Mr. Irwmi as an expert.Id. at p. 16.) Plaintiffs suggest this date

December 4, 2014, which is the date of. Mwin’s report on his inspection of t
Hershey property. Id.) Plaintiffs further claim theyere surprised by the filing

the Irwin reports, the surprise cannot caged, and providing the documents 1

would require re-briefing of theotion for class certification.ld. at pp. 19-20.)
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In response, Defendantgares that it was under no légdligation to disclos
to Plaintiffs, in advance of its deadlinedesignate experts, win@xpert declaratior,
First American’s counsel had decided anémaed to file in spport of its oppositio
to Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification. After it filed the declaration of Mr. In
Defendant concedes that it waived certattorney-work product protections g
opened the door to Mr. Irwin’s deposition. riee following reasons, the Court agr,
with Defendant.

Defendant designated Mr. Irwas an expert in the Bz Action and Plaintiff
were able to take his deposition. In Garrera Action, however, Defendant claim

initially retained Mr. Irwin as a non-testihg expert. Therefore, under the w

e

-

vin,
ind

SISN)

S
sit

Ork

product doctrine of Rule 26(b)(3)(A)nd the protection afforded non-testifying

experts under Rule 26(b)(4)(D), Plaintiffgere not entitled to discover the fa
known or opinions held by Mr. Irwin absenslaowing of exceptional circumstang
The consolidation of these cases did nabeaatically render Mr. Irwin an expert
the Consolidated Action. The Court see teadline to designate experts in
Consolidated Action fioMarch 20, 2015. SeeECF No. 92 at | Zee als€ECF No
109 at 1 4.) Plaintiffs were under no obtiga to designate Mr. Irwin prior to th
date.

Although the deadline to designate tesgtiff experts did not occur until aft
Defendant’s opposition to the motion foass$ certification was due, when Defeng
submitted an expert decléia on behalf of Mr. Irwin with its opposition, the c:
law is clear that Defendant opened up ai@y on Defendant’s atements, finding
and opinions, and entitled Plaintiffs tdkéaMr. Irwin’s deposition about the subj
of his testimony.See Worley v. Avanquest N. Am..Im¢o. C 12-04391 WHO(LB
2013 WL 6576732, at *4 (. Cal. Dec. 13, 2013ositive Techs., Inc. v. Sa
Elecs., Inc. No. 11-cv-2226 SI(KAW), 2013 WIL402337, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Apr.
2013) (citingSims v. Metro. Life Ins. CdNo. C—05-02980, 2006/L 3826716, at *!

(N.D. Cal. 2006)). However, submitting Mirwin’s declaration does not pern
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discovery of information or material ngut at issue or of the contents of
privileged communicationsWorley, 2013 WL 6576732, at *4.

Plaintiffs did not seek to depose Mr. Inafter Defendant filed his declaratig
Instead, they seek to sanction Defendantnot supplementing its response to t
RFP. To the extent Defemldailed to supplement itssponse to the RFP in a timg
manner, the Court finds that a sanction isapyropriate, as theifare was harmles
SeefFed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1). As Plaintigate in their reply in support of their mot

for class certification: “Plaintiffs’ claims&nd this motion have nothing to do wi

whether First American properly rejectethims or what portio of claims wer
approved or denied.” (Reply at p. 1, lifkd41.) Moreover, as apparent from th
Order, the Court did not — and did not ngéed- rely on Mr. Irwin’s declaration
reports in deciding this motion. The Cofutther does not find that a sanction in
form of attorney’s fees is appropriatéccordingly, Plaintiffs’ motion for sanctior
is DENIED.
VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CoENIES Plaintiffs’ motion for clas
certification (ECF No. 121)DENIES theex partemotions regarding supplemer
authority filed by the partieECF Nos. 139, 145, 146); arRENIES Plaintiffs’
motion for sanctions (ECF No. 132).

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: February 22, 2016 ( nitina 1”#%:!_‘}/5_54,.&( |

Ho1. Cynthia Bashant
United States District Judge
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